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OUR MANDATE

Our mandate is to promote and maintain competition in the Republic in order to:

• Promote effi ciency, adaptability and the development of the economy 

• Provide consumers with competitive prices and a wider product choice

• Promote employment and to advance the social and economic welfare of South Africans

• Expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets and to recognise the role of foreign competition

• Ensure that small and medium enterprises have an equitable opportunity to participate in the country’s economy

• Provide a greater spread of ownership in particular to historically disadvantaged persons
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abbreviations

Act    Competition Act, 1998

AME    African Media Entertainment

Asgi-SA   Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa

BEE    black economic empowerment

CAC    Competition Appeal Court

CLP    corporate leniency policy

CMS   Council for Medical Schemes

CMS   case management system

Commission   Competition Commission

CST    Community Service Telephone

DOJ    Department of Justice (USA)

DTI    Department of Trade and Industry

EC    European Community

FTC    Federal Trade Commission (USA)

HDI    historically disadvantaged individuals

Icasa   Independent Communications Authority of South Africa

ICN    International Competition Network

ICT    Information Communication Technology

IDC    Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa

IT    Information Technology

KZN    KwaZulu-Natal 

LAN    limestone ammonium nitrate

Nail    New Africa Investments Ltd

NCF    National Consumer Forum

abbreviations

OECD   Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

PFMA   Public Finance Management Act, 1999

PAYE   pay as you earn

PSA    Public Service Association

RSC    Regional Services Council 

SAA    South African Airways

SARF   South African Regulators Forum

SAVA   South African VANS Association

SDTC   South African Dental Technicians Council

Seta    Sectoral Education and Training Authority

SME    small and medium enterprise

SOE    state owned enterprise

SPS    SharePoint Server

Tribunal   Competition Tribunal

Udipa    Uitenhage and Despatch Independent Practitioners 

    Association

UK    United Kingdom

UIF    Unemployment Insurance Fund

UNCTAD   United Nations Conference on Trade and Development 

USA    United States of America

USAID   United States Agency for International Development 

VANS   value-added network service

VESA   Vehicle Security Association of South Africa

VPN    virtual private network
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Commission’s building: Mulayo - “the law” in tshiVenda
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Foreword

Competition regulation is an important element of our economic policies. Competition leads to innovation 

and effi ciencies in the economy, a necessary condition for growth. It also leads to competitive prices and 

provides choices for consumers. For us, the role of competition policy has become increasingly important 

as we strive to promote sustained and widely shared economic growth in line with Asgi-SA principles. 

Government believes that competition policy is crucial to eradicate the legacy of an economy that is highly 

concentrated and was not so long ago isolated from the international community. Furthermore we believe 

that competition policy can, in this instance, play a major role in achieving an industrial policy objective of 

increased international competitiveness of our local industries.

We commend the work of the Competition Commission since its beginnings in 1999. The work that has been 

done since then is very encouraging. However, despite the improving level of competitiveness in general and 

the robustness of the competition institutions, high levels of concentration in specifi c sectors of the economy 

and certain anticompetitive practices, can still be found. 

In 2005, the Department of Trade and Industry undertook an economy-wide concentration study and various 

sector studies to assess the level of competition. The dti also consulted with the competition authorities 

regarding their practical experiences in implementing the law and on competition-related issues in various 

sectors of the economy. 

I am delighted that considerable progress has been made by the Competition Commission particularly in the area of merger regulation and cartel enforcement. A number 

of anti-competitive mergers have been blocked and a range of anti-competitive practices successfully identifi ed and prosecuted. 

Recently, the Commission has conducted thorough investigations which led to the referral of milk and bread cartel cases to the Competition Tribunal for prosecution. 

Cartel enforcement is a priority since cartels not only prejudice consumers but raise the cost of doing business for producers by raising the cost of primary inputs. Cartels 

also impede economic growth by holding a price cap over ineffi cient fi rms. This reduces the pressure on ineffi cient fi rms to restructure to become more effi cient. 

Despite the enormous progress made, a number of obstacles that hinder the ability of the competition authorities to deal with certain anti-competitive practices and 

uncompetitive outcomes mostly found in highly concentrated markets can still be found. These are competitive problems resulting from the structure and operation of 

the market, uncompetitive pricing behaviour and regulatory issues. 

Consequently, there is a need to strengthen the provisions of the Competition Act in order to give the competition authorities more powers to deal with uncompetitive 

behaviour which the current legislation cannot address.

We trust that the Commission will continue on this encouraging path, and for our part, we will do our best to support it. 

Mr Mandisi Mpahlwa, MP 

Minister of Trade and Industry 

The Honourable 
Minister of Trade and Industry, 

Mr Mandisi Mpahlwa
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1. Overview

It has been another busy and stimulating year for the Competition Commission.

Strategic planning: refi ning our direction as an organisation

In 2006, the Commission embarked on a challenging process of consolidating its experience into a strategic 

plan for the organisation. Leadership changes, with new appointments to senior positions in the Commission, 

along with developments in the policy environment such as the adoption of the Asgi-SA growth strategy, 

catalysed an invigorating strategic planning process. Through interactive engagement with Commission 

staff, strategic priorities have been identifi ed against which interventions can be measured and resources 

allocated. The process has focused our minds on maximising the impact of our interventions.

The plan’s main strategic thrusts are to increase staff morale and motivation; align organisational structure 

and work processes to the Commission’s strategic priorities; defi ne and clarify the Commission’s approach 

and methodology; establish the Commission as a centre of information, knowledge and expertise; and 

ensure effective advocacy and communication. The strategic plan will be implemented over the next three 

years and promises to inject new energy into the organisation. 

Robust merger and acquisition activity 

In the period under review, we evaluated 413 merger notifi cations and decreased our average turnaround time to 27 days – a 10 percent improvement from 

the previous year and well within international benchmarks for merger reviews. The Commission recommended the prohibition of four transactions and placed 

conditions on the approval of another seven. Signifi cantly, we have intervened in transactions occurring in markets that affect the end-consumer, notably in food retail, 

telecommunications and healthcare. A much publicised case has been our recommendation, subsequently accepted by the Competition Tribunal, that the proposed 

acquisition by Telkom of Business Connexion be prohibited. The Commission had concluded that the acquisition would have created a market structure with incentives 

that would frustrate fair access to network infrastructure, essential to maintaining and promoting competition in the ICT sector. 

Improving our enforcement capacity and corporate leniency

There has been a demonstrable shift towards enforcement activity in the Commission. This includes the initiation of cases by the Commissioner, referrals to the 

Tribunal for adjudication and applying our corporate leniency policy. The Commission is committed to improving its enforcement capacity, particularly in detecting 

and prosecuting cartels. Because cartels are so secretive, corporate leniency is an effective tool in ‘cartel-busting’. Our corporate leniency policy gives immunity from 

prosecution to the fi rst cartel member to come forward with information. The policy was effectively applied in our proactive investigations into alleged price fi xing in 

the bread and milk industries. 

The banking enquiry: debating the issues in public 

The banking enquiry has ignited a robust public discussion about how bank fees are determined, and about access to, and the governance of, the national payment 
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system. The Commission launched the enquiry in August 2006. This followed 

general public concern about the costs of retail banking, and research that 

pointed out anticompetitive outcomes in the banking sector. The enquiry 

has held public hearings and received written submissions from various 

stakeholders including the banks themselves. The enquiry will hold further 

hearings and prepare its report in the next fi nancial year. The Commission will 

consider what further steps to take based on its recommendations. The enquiry 

has already proved to be successful in achieving greater transparency and an 

effective mechanism for advocacy. It has resulted in bringing information to the 

public domain that enables stakeholders, in particular the banks and regulators, 

to develop appropriate and accountable responses to the issues that require 

attention.

Promoting a culture of competition

Our advocacy function aims to promote a culture of competition in all areas 

of economic activity. This includes advocating for all government policy, laws 

and regulations to be consistent with the principles of the Competition Act. The 

Commission is increasingly being utilised as a source of information and advice 

by government departments and regulators wanting to ensure compliance with 

competition principles. 

The Commission participates in the proceedings of other regulatory authorities 

and has benefi ted from the cooperation and participation of other regulators in 

our investigations and hearings. Increasing litigation by respondents seeking to 

avert the jurisdiction of the competition authorities, however, demands that we 

pay more attention to coordinating and harmonising the exercise of jurisdiction 

over competition matters with sector regulators. 

International best practice 

Competition law is a rapidly developing fi eld internationally and the South 

African competition authorities have benefi ted from being active participants in 

international competition fora. In May 2006, we hosted the annual International 

Competition Network (ICN) conference, the most prestigious event for 

competition agencies internationally. The South African competition authorities 

also have observer status in the OECD Competition Committee, and participate 

in the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). 

The success of the Competition Commission is due to our committed staff. I 

thank all staff for their dedication and hard work. I thank the managers in the 

organisation for their leadership in this crucial stage of the organisation’s life. 
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2. Our activities 

2.1 Enforcement and Exemptions

The Enforcement and Exemptions division is responsible for administering the 

provisions of Chapter 2 and Schedule 1 of the Competition Act.   

The division’s core functions are:

• Investigating complaints 

• Evaluating exemption applications

• Administering the corporate leniency policy (CLP).

Investigating complaints

The division’s main function is the investigation and prosecution of prohibited 

practices as set out in Chapter 2 of the Competition Act. Chapter 2 prohibits 

three classes of anticompetitive conduct: restrictive horizontal practices, 

restrictive vertical practices, and abuse of a dominant position. Complaints are 

either initiated by the Commissioner or fi led by members of the public, or private 

enterprises. Where a prohibited practice has been established, the matter is 

referred to the Competition Tribunal for adjudication.  

Investigation of complaints is at the core of competition regulation because 

it deals with the behaviour of business in the market. The Commission is 

committed to increasing its enforcement capacity.

During the period under review, we received 93 complaints from the public 

and initiated 6 investigations. 37 cases were carried over from the previous 

year. Of this total of 136 complaints, 14 cases were recommended for referral 

to the Competition Tribunal; 45 cases were non-referred at screening; 25 

investigations were non-referred; and 8 complaints were withdrawn. 44 cases 

have been carried over into 2007/08. 

Signifi cant enforcement cases

A number of signifi cant investigations were conducted in the period under re-

view. 

Milk: cartel and price fi xing

In December 2006, the Competition Commission referred a cartel case against 

eight dairy processors to the Competition Tribunal. The dairy processors are: 

Clover Industries (Clover), Clover SA (CSA), Parmalat, Ladismith Cheese, 

Woodlands Dairy (Woodlands), Lancewood, Nestlé SA (Nestlé) and Milkwood 

Dairy (Milkwood).

After initiating an investigation into anticompetitive behaviour in the milk indus-

try in February 2005, the Commission found evidence of price fi xing for raw and 

retail milk, and that trading conditions were manipulated in these markets. The 

Commission has referred a number of key fi ndings to the Competition Tribunal 

for further determination: 

•  Exchange of pricing information enabled competitors to coordinate their 

pricing strategies to fi x the purchase price of raw milk. 

Table 1: Investigations initiated by the Commission1

Respondent Affected product Behaviour Section of Act transgressed Date initiated

Clover Industries, Parmalat and Woodlands Milk Price fi xing, collusion 4(1)(b) 17/05/06

Nedschroef Johannesburg Nuts and bolts Prohibited horizontal practice 4(1) 13/06/06

SA Metal and Machinery Reclamation Scrap metal Collusion, exclusionary behaviour 4(1)(b)(i), 4(1)(b)(ii), 5(1) 14/08/06

Premier Foods, Tiger Brands, Pioneer Foods Bread  Price fi xing, collusion 4(1)(b) 08/01/07

Pioneer and Tiger Foods Pride Milling Milled foodstuff Price fi xing, collusion 4(1)(b) 19/03/07

Pioneer Foods, Tiger Foods and Foodcorp Bread Price fi xing, collusion 4(1)(b) 19/03/07
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•  Three milk processors entered into long-term milk supply and exchange 

agreements to sell their surplus milk to each other rather than at lower 

prices to end users. This arrangement enabled colluding fi rms to maintain 

the price of milk at artifi cially high levels. 

•  Three milk processors coordinated the removal of surplus milk from the 

market. This decreased supply ensured that prices were kept high and 

constitutes indirect price fi xing. 

One of the producers, Clover, has been granted conditional immunity under 

the corporate leniency programme for its involvement in the cartel. This means 

that it will not be prosecuted if it meets all the conditions under the corporate 

leniency programme.

In prosecuting this case before the Competition Tribunal, the Commission is 

seeking an order to:

•  Declare that the respondents committed a prohibited practice under the 

Competition Act

• Forbid the respondents from committing these prohibited practices again

•  Impose an administrative penalty of up to 10 percent of the annual turnover 

of the respondents. 

Bread and milling: cartels and price fi xing

Following information from a number of complainants relating to the conduct 

of three bakeries operating in the Western Cape, in January 2007 the Com-

mission started investigating price fi xing and collusion against Premier Foods 

(trading as Blue Ribbon Bakery), Pioneer Foods (trading as Sasko and Duens 

bakeries) and Tiger Food Brands (trading as Albany Bakeries). During the in-

vestigations, Premier Foods came forward to confess and applied for leniency 

for participating in the ‘bread cartel’. Premier Foods was granted leniency in 

return for providing the Commission with information to prosecute other cartel 

members. The Commission has referred the case to the Tribunal. 

During the investigation it became apparent that the conduct was not confi ned 

to the Western Cape and the Commission has subsequently widened the 

investigation to cover the whole country. 

Also, through its investigation into the bread industry, the Commission has 

obtained enough information to suggest that a possible cartel is operating in 

the South African milling industry. Consequently, the Commission has initiated 

an investigation into the milling industry.

The Commission’s investigation of the bread cartel was swift, leading to a referral 

in less than two months of investigations. Also, it demonstrates the effectiveness 

of the corporate leniency policy for identifying and prosecuting cartels. 

The wide media attention attracted by the case will also have served to 

make consumers more aware of the Competition Commission and how the 

Competition Act can protect and benefi t them. 

Senwes: abuse of dominance in the grain storage 
market

This complaint was submitted by CTH Trading, a small independent fi rm 

operating as a grain trader, in December 2004. The complainant alleged that 

Senwes, by virtue of the fact that it owns the majority of silos in the Free State 

and adjacent areas, is exploiting its position to the detriment of other competitors 

in the downstream market for grain trading.  

The investigation revealed that Senwes, by setting different prices for grain 

storage for farmers who sell their grain product to Senwes and farmers who 

sell to third party traders, was able to negatively affect competition in the grain 

trading market. Evidence suggests that Senwes abused its dominance in the 

grain storage market to secure an advantage for itself in the market for the 

physical trading of grain, to the detriment of CTH and other traders competing 

with Senwes. 

The Commission’s interest in this case is to ensure that anticompetitive 

practices in the domestic market for grain products do not negatively affect 

the sustainability and competitiveness of small/emerging farmers. We are also 

concerned about the adverse impact of increasing food prices on low income 

households.

The case was referred to the Tribunal for adjudication in December 2006. 

A range of anticompetitive practices in the mobile 
telecommunications industry

A number of complaints have been lodged against the three mobile network 

operators (MTN, Vodacom and Cell C) for a range of anticompetitive practices. 

These include price discrimination, excessive pricing, exclusionary acts and 

other activities relating to abuse of dominance. 

The most signifi cant of these is the complaint by Cell C, which relates to the 

conduct of MTN in relation to Cell C’s community service telephones (CSTs). 

CSTs are public telephones that operate on the mobile telecommunication 
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networks and are placed in areas where there is limited access to fi xed line 

telephones. In terms of its universal service obligations, each cellular network 

operator is obliged to roll out CSTs in under-serviced areas.

The locations for Cell C’s CSTs were determined by a study compiled by the 

Human Sciences Research Council, which the Independent Communication 

Authority of South Africa (Icasa) subsequently approved. However, MTN 

objected to the placement of these CSTs, alleging that they were in areas 

which did not fall within the ambit of under-serviced areas. As a result, MTN is 

charging Cell C the commercial interconnection rate (as opposed to the CST 

interconnection rate) for all calls made from every Cell C CST to phones on 

the MTN network. However, when a user of a Vodacom CST, situated in the 

same vicinity as certain Cell C CSTs, phones MTN, MTN charges Vodacom the 

agreed upon CST rate.

Following an investigation into this, the Commission found that MTN’s conduct 

did constitute an abuse of dominance as Cell C alleged, and will be referring the 

matter to the Tribunal for adjudication. 

Evaluating exemption applications

The Commission may grant exemption for an activity that would otherwise 

be classifi ed as anticompetitive, if this behaviour can be justifi ed on certain 

grounds specifi ed in the Competition Act. If the behaviour contributes to the 

following objectives, an exemption may be granted: maintenance or promotion 

of exports, promotion of small businesses and BEE companies, stopping decline 

in an industry, and the need to protect the economic stability of a designated 

industry. The Enforcement and Exemptions division is responsible for evaluating 

applications and granting exemptions. 

SAA and the Star Alliance

The Commission granted an exemption in an application by SAA to join the 

Star Alliance. The Star Alliance is one of three global airline alliances active in 

the market for international passenger air travel. (The other two are Oneworld 

and Skyteam.) Enjoying membership of 19 of the world’s 20 biggest airlines, 

these alliances aim to make world travel easier and smoother, by offering joint 

products and coordinating their fl ights and marketing activities. 

As the alliance involves coordination of activities and pricing by competitors, it 

could be construed as indirect price fi xing. SAA applied for an exemption saying 

that its joining the Star Alliance would contribute to promoting and supporting 

South African exports. SAA also argued that being a member of the alliance 

would promote tourism into South Africa and allow it to remain competitive in 

the global market. 

The exemption was granted for fi ve years subject to certain conditions. These 

include SAA submitting an annual report to the Commission accounting for all 

revenues generated from its participation in the Star Alliance. This will enable 

the Commission to monitor the application and effect of the exemption.
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Table 2: Pending exemption applications at year-end

Applicant for exemption Market/sector Grounds on which exemption sought Date of application

The Law Society of SA Legal services Professional requirement 21/07/06

General Council of the Bar Legal services Professional requirement 12/03/99

SAA/Mozambique Airlines Airline industry Maintenance or promotion of exports 12/09/05

SAA/Qantas Airline industry Maintenance or promotion of exports 20/12/05

Association of Shipping Lines Shipping industry Maintenance or promotion of exports 18/11/05
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The banking enquiry

Why the enquiry?

In August 2006, the Competition Commission launched a public enquiry into 

bank charges and access to the national payment system. The effect of both 

of these on the provision of competitive banking services for all South African 

consumers (businesses or individuals) underpins the enquiry. 

The Commission decided to launch the enquiry in response to a number of 

reports on the matter as well as public concern about the perceived high costs 

of retail banking in South Africa.

The overall objectives of the enquiry are to increase transparency and 

competition in the retail banking market.

Terms of reference

The enquiry was to cover: 

•  The level and structure of bank charges and other providers of payments 

of services, including: 

 •  The relation between the costs of providing retail banking and/or 

payment services and the charges for these services

competition commission   annual report 2006/07
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 • The process by which charges are set

 •  The level and scope of existing and potential competition in this regard

•  The feasibility of improving access by non-banks and would-be banks 

to the national payment system infrastructure, so that they can compete 

more effectively in providing payment services to consumers

•  Any other aspect relating to the payment system or these charges which 

could be regarded as anticompetitive.

The enquiry panel

The enquiry is being conducted for the Commission by a panel appointed by the 

Competition Commissioner, consisting of Chairperson Thabani Jali, and Oupa 

Bodibe, Hixonia Nyasulu and Rob Petersen. 

The technical team

There are seven members of the technical team responsible for researching 

and investigating, as well as an enquiry manager. Members of the technical 

team are a mix of full-time Commission staff and consultants.

Stakeholders and written submissions 

A comprehensive list of stakeholders was drawn up, which included regulators, 

all banks and card associations operating in South Africa, non-banks, consumer 

groups, trade unions and other relevant organisations from civil society. 

Stakeholders were notifi ed about the enquiry and invited to make su bmissions 

on any aspect relevant to the enquiry’s terms of reference. All the major banks 

have committed themselves to cooperate with the enquiry. 

The enquiry depends on all interested parties voluntarily submitting information 

and their willingness to have the signifi cance and reliability of the information 

tested. The enquiry includes public hearings to supplement and examine 

submissions made in writing or interviews. 

By the end of October 2006, enquiry staff had received written submissions 

from the major role players in each of these sectors and from 205 members of 

the public. Twenty one days were set aside for public hearings. 

Two sets of public hearings

The programme provides for two sets of public hearings: the fi rst in November 

2006 and the second during April, May and June 2007. While the fi rst public 

hearings covered general presentations by stakeholders, the second set of 

public hearings will relate to specifi c topics identifi ed by the panel, such as ATM 

fees, and the level and structure of bank charges. 

The fi rst public hearings were held in November 2006 in Johannesburg, Cape 

Town and Durban. At the hearings the major banks, invited stakeholders and 

members of the public were given the opportunity to present their submissions 

in public and for the enquiry panel to raise questions on any aspect relating to 

the enquiry’s terms of reference. 

By the end of the period under review, the enquiry’s technical team had held 

over 50 meetings with different stakeholders, including the Reserve Bank, 

National Treasury and the major retail banks.

After the enquiry

The enquiry panel will provide the Commission with its fi nal report in November 

2007 once it has completed all its work. The enquiry report will enable the 

Commission to decide on an appropriate course of action, which may include a 

formal investigation and/or recommendations for legislation and policy. 

An already tangible outcome of the enquiry is that an important conversation 

has begun, among banks themselves and the public, bringing to light many 

issues affecting consumers that have previously been unexposed. 
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The corporate leniency policy

Cartels fl ourish in concentrated or oligopolistic markets; the fewer the number 

of players in a market, the easier it is to coordinate and monitor the behaviour 

of competitors. South Africa’s history of economic isolation and its geographic 

isolation from the major international economic markets makes the South 

African economy particularly prone to cartel behaviour. 

The corporate leniency policy (CLP) aims to detect and prevent cartel behaviour 

by providing immunity from prosecution to the fi rst cartel member that gives the 

Commission information. As cartels are secretive by nature, often the only way 

to fi nd out about them is from an insider.

The CLP sets out the benefi ts, procedure and requirements for cooperation 

with the Commission. It seeks to reward cooperation by fi rms which are or 

have been party to secret cartels that have an effect within the Republic of 

South Africa.  A fi rm that is granted immunity will not be prosecuted by the 

Commission and will pay no administrative fi ne. All other cartel members face 

a fi ne of up to 10 percent of their annual turnover. 

The CLP states that to qualify for immunity, a fi rm must:

• Be a member of a cartel

• Be ‘fi rst through the door’

•  Not have been an instigator or coerced other fi rms into joining or remaining 

in the cartel

•  Undertake to assist the commission in the investigation and prosecution of 

the cartel, including being a witness. 

During the period under review, three applications were received, which led to 

the initiation of investigations into the bread, milling and airlines industries. 

The Commission will be reviewing the CLP to make it more effective. It has 

prepared a draft discussion paper to be circulated to all stakeholders in the 

next fi nancial year. The discussion paper details the Commission’s proposed 

amendments to the policy and seeks input from stakeholders on how to make 

the policy more effective and effi cient. 
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2.2  Mergers and Acquisitions 

The Mergers and Acquisitions division is responsible for administering the 

provisions of Chapter 3 of the Competition Act. The division’s core function is 

the investigation and analysis of mergers. Merger control is aimed at preventing 

the establishment of anticompetitive structures in a market through mergers 

and acquisitions. The Act gives the competition authorities the jurisdiction to 

review all transactions that meet the required thresholds for intermediate and 

large mergers. Intermediate and large mergers may not be implemented before 

approval by the competition authorities. The Act further provides for the voluntary 

notifi cation of small mergers. In specifi c circumstances the Commission can 

insist on the notifi cation of small mergers. 

The Commission investigates all notifi ed mergers to determine whether the 

transaction is likely to lead to a substantial prevention or lessening of competition, 

or will have a negative effect on the public interest. The Commission has the 

authority to approve, conditionally approve or prohibit intermediate mergers. 

For large mergers the Commission makes a recommendation to the Tribunal 

to approve, conditionally approve or prohibit the merger. The Tribunal has 

jurisdiction to decide on large mergers. 

Merger activity

During the period under review, we received 413 merger notifi cations, fi ve 

more than the total in the previous year. 94 were large mergers, 317 were 

intermediate mergers, and 2 were small mergers. The slight increase in merger 

activity (of 1 percent) compared to the higher increases in previous periods, is 

largely because of the steadiness of merger activity at already high levels, due 

to the stable and robust economic activity in South Africa and globally.

The number of large merger notifi cations decreased slightly from 97 in the 

previous year to 94; intermediate mergers increased by approximately 6 

percent, from 300 to 317; and small mergers decreased signifi cantly from 11 in 

the previous year to 2, an 82 percent decrease.

   

Of the 413 mergers notifi ed, 7 were withdrawn, and in 6 cases it was found that 

we had no jurisdiction. 410 merger cases were fi nalised2 in the period under 

review. 

 

The total number of merger cases notifi ed in the period under review is 

comparable with the high number in the previous fi nancial year. 

We have managed to improve the average turnaround time for fi nalising merger 

cases: from 30 days in the previous fi nancial year to 27 days. This is because we 

have streamlined our internal investigative and decision-making procedures.

17

2  ‘Finalised’ means the Commission took a decision, or the merger was withdrawn by 

the parties, or the Commission had no jurisdiction.

3  Cases fi nalised may exceed number of cases notifi ed due to matters carried over 

from 2005/06. 

  4 Cases which were not fi nalised will be carried over to 2007/08. 

  5 Cases which were not fi nalised will be carried over to 2007/08.

Table 3: Case statistics 2006/07 

Small Intermediate Large Total

Cases notifi ed 2 317 94 413

Cases fi nalised 43 3154 915 410

Table 4: Merger cases fi nalised

Small Intermediate Large Total

Conditional approval - 3 4 7

Unconditional approval 4 305 77 386

Prohibition - - 4 4

Withdrawals - 3 4 7

No jurisdiction - 4 2 6

Total cases fi nalised 4 315 91 410
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Snapshot of merger activity6

•  Nearly a quarter of all merger activity considered by the Commission 

occurred in the manufacturing sector – consistent with previous years. 

Most notifi ed mergers in the manufacturing sector occurred within the 

chemicals sub-sector, followed by the food and beverages sub-sector. 

•  Merger activity considered by the Commission in the mining sector 

increased from 5.33% in the previous year to 9%.

•  In real estate (property sector), mergers fi nalised by the Commission 

increased from 15.48% to 20%. These acquisitions are driven mainly 

by property owning companies’ portfolio transactions in response to the 

demand for highly profi table commercial properties.

•  Mergers the Commission considered in the fi nancial services sector fell 

from 13.2% to 7%.   

In the period under review we unconditionally approved (or recommended the 

unconditional approval of) 94% of the cases fi nalised. 

We recommended the prohibition of four large mergers:

• Reclamation Group/SA Metals and Machinery

• Pick ‘n Pay/Fruit & Veg City Holdings

• Telkom/Business Connexion

• Netcare/Community Hospital Group.  

The two mergers involving Reclamation Group/SA Metals and Machinery, and 

Pick ‘n Pay/Fruit & Veg City Holdings were abandoned after referral to the 

Tribunal. The merger involving Telkom/Business Connexion was subsequently 

prohibited by the Tribunal. The Netcare/Community Hospital Group matter is 

pending before the Tribunal at the time of going to print. 

We conditionally approved three intermediate mergers:

• Primedia/New Africa Investments Limited (Nail)

• Metso Corporation/Aker Kvaerner’s Pulping and Power

• Johnson & Johnson/Pfi zer Consumer Healthcare.

In all three cases, structural remedies aimed at recreating a pre-merger market 

structure were recommended and were mainly in the form of divestiture of certain 

businesses or assets. In Primedia/Nail the structural remedy aimed to prevent 

Primedia from exercising control over Nail. The parties in this matter applied 

to the Tribunal for a reconsideration of the merger. The Tribunal subsequently 

approved the matter without conditions. 

We recommended the conditional approval of four large mergers:

• Barmac/ATC and Aberdare Cables 

• Lafarge Roofi ng/Kulu Concrete Products 

• African Oxygen/Refrigeration Company 

• Main Street/Kumba Resources.

In all four cases, we recommended structural conditions to address the 

anticompetitive effects arising from these mergers. In three cases, we 

recommended the divestiture of assets or shares, while in the Main Street/Kumba 

Resources merger we recommended the removal of cross directorships between 

competitors. The Tribunal subsequently approved the matter without conditions.

18

  6  The statistics include fi nalised decisions on all mergers notifi ed to the Commission 

and exclude mergers that were non-notifi able. 
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Table 5: Commission’s interventions in mergers and acquisitions 

Case Anticompetitive effect of merger Commission’s intervention Outcome

Barmac/ATC and Abedare 

Cables 

Scrap metal 

Structural links between the parties and a 

competitor would facilitate collusion

Structural conditions: sale of 

shares and resignation of director 

also sitting on board of competitor 

to prevent coordinated effects 

Tribunal imposed the structural condition

Lafarge Roofi ng/Kulu 

Group 

Concrete roof tiles

Monopoly power in Western Cape would allow 

parties to increase prices in the construction 

industry

Structural condition: divestiture of 

business in Western Cape 

Tribunal imposed structural and 

behavioural conditions. The behavioural 

condition relates to securing access to 

supply of cement inputs to competitors of 

the merging parties in the KZN market 

Afrox/Refrigeration Co.

Refrigerant gas distribution

Parties’ combined post-merger market share and 

position in the market would allow them to increase 

prices. Large players would reduce from 3 to 2 

Structural condition: divestiture 

of assets to ensure pre-merger 

competitive conditions remain

Tribunal imposed structural conditions 

Main Street/Kumba 

Resources

Mining 

Cross directorships between parties could facilitate 

information sharing and collusion 

Structural conditions eliminating 

cross directorships to prevent 

coordination

Tribunal approved without conditions

Primedia/Nail

Radio

Transaction creates a structure linking 2 signifi cant 

market participants in an already concentrated 

market. There is thus potential for collusion 

Behavioural condition to prevent 

any platform that would facilitate 

coordination 

Parties took the matter to the Tribunal for 

reconsideration. Tribunal unconditionally 

approved the merger. Competitor is 

taking Tribunal’s decision on review to 

the Competition Appeal Court

Metso/Aker Kvaerner

Paper manufacturing 

equipment 

Parties were the only identifi ed effective 

competitors. The merged entity would be able to 

increase prices 

Structural condition: divestiture of 

assets  

Parties accepted Commission’s 

conditions 

Johnson & Johnson/Pfi zer

Pharmaceuticals

Merged entity would have market power in certain 

markets and be able to increase prices 

Structural condition: divestiture of 

assets 

Parties accepted Commission’s 

conditions 

Telkom/Business 

Connexion

Telecommunications

The merger would have horizontal, vertical and 

portfolio effects. Merged entity’s market share and 

position would allow it to push competitors out and 

increase prices

Prohibition recommended to the 

Tribunal 

Tribunal prohibited the merger

Netcare/Community 

Hospital Group

Private healthcare

Reduced competition in particular regions Prohibition recommended to the 

Tribunal 

Tribunal decision pending 

Pick ‘n Pay/Fruit & Veg City

Retail food

High market share would enable parties to 

increase prices

Prohibition recommended to the 

Tribunal 

Parties abandoned the merger, citing 

business certainty and regulatory delays 

as reason 
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Table 6: Mergers and acquisitions 2006/07, 2005/06, 2004/05, and 2003/04   

2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07

Total number of cases notifi ed 284 311 408 413

Small 6 6 11 2

Intermediate 213 233 300 317

Large 65 72 97 94

Total number of cases fi nalised 278 301 394 410

Small 5 7 9 4

Intermediate 214 229 284 315

Large 59 65 101 91

Total number of cases conditionally approved 7 9 7 7

Small 1 0 0 0

Intermediate 4 2 7 3

Large 2 7 0 4

Total number of cases unconditionally approved 262 285 376 386

Small 4 5 8 4

Intermediate 205 222 277 305

Large 53 58 91 77

Total number of cases prohibited 1 4 4 4

Small 0 1 1 0

Intermediate 0 3 0 0

Large 1 0 3 4

Total number of cases withdrawn/no jurisdiction 8 3 8 13

Small 0 1 1 0

Intermediate 5 2 5 7

Large 3 0 2 6

20 competition commission   annual report 2006/07



21

Table 7: Mergers that the Commission took decisions on by type7

Type of merger Total Percentage (%)

Horizontal – parties compete with each other or are in the same line of business 194 49

Vertical – parties are not direct competitors, but a real or potential supplier/customer relationship occurs 31 8

Conglomerate – parties are neither in a horizontal nor vertical relationship 103 26

Horizontal/vertical-mix – parties are competitors and supplier/customers 69 17

Total 397 100

Table 8: Mergers that the Commission took decisions on by sector8

Sector Total Percentage (%)

Mining  35 9

Construction 3 1

Financial services 26 7

IT 17 4

Transport 14 4

Manufacturing 

Food and beverages
Chemicals
Electrical equipment
Printing and publishing
Equipment and machinery
Metal products
Transport equipment
Textiles and fabrics
Other manufacturing 

104

15
25

4
0

18
14

9
3

16

26

Telecommunications 5 1

Services 31 8

Real estate 81 20

Wholesale 39 9

Retail 26 7

Agriculture 4 1

Hotels and restaurants 3 1

Other 9 2

Total 397 100

7  On intermediate mergers, the Commission may take a decision to approve 

unconditionally, approve with conditions, or prohibit. On large mergers, the 

Commission recommends to the Tribunal which makes a fi nal decision. These 

fi gures do not include mergers where the parties withdrew, or the Commission had 

no jurisdiction.

8 See footnote 7.
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Prohibited mergers

Telecommunications: Telkom SA and Business 
Connexion Group
 
We recommended to the Tribunal the prohibition of the acquisition of Business 

Connexion Group (BCX) by Telkom SA (Telkom). 

We arrived at our recommendation on the grounds that the merger would have 

horizontal, vertical and portfolio effects.

At the horizontal level, the activities of the merging parties overlap in the market 

for the provision of electronic communication services. In this market, and par-

ticularly the sub-market for managed network services, the merged entity would 

enjoy a large market share post-merger. Combined with the vertical effects, this 

would enable Telkom to raise prices to end customers.

Vertical integration occurs through the consolidation between the activities of 

Telkom (as the monopoly supplier of network infrastructure in South Africa), 

and the activities of both parties in the downstream market for the provision of 

electronic communication services. Vertical integration would enable Telkom to 

raise the business costs of its rivals in the downstream market by increasing 

prices for, or frustrating access to, network infrastructure. Telkom could also 

cross-subsidise its activities in the downstream markets with profi ts from the 

upstream market, thereby having the ability to provide electronic communication 

and IT services at exclusionary prices. This would negatively affect the ability of 

other service providers to compete fairly. 

Portfolio effects arise from the ability, and the incentive, of the merged entity 

to leverage its dominance in the electronic communication services markets to 

the related (but separate) information technology services markets. This could 

occur through the bundling and cross subsidisation of services. If this happened, 

it would be likely that competitors would exit the downstream markets, leaving 

Telkom as a monopolist.

We concluded that the transaction would be likely to substantially prevent or 

lessen competition in the markets for electronic communication and information 

technology services, specifi cally, and the broad information technology sector 

generally. Given the convergence occurring in ICT, fair access to network 

infrastructure is essential to maintaining and promoting competition. This 

acquisition would have created a market structure with concomitant incentives 

that would frustrate fair access and effective competition.

The Tribunal has subsequently prohibited the merger.

Scrap metal: Reclamation Group and SA Metal and 
Machinery Company and Waste Control 

Reclamation Group (Reclam) notifi ed the Commission of its intention to acquire 

the entire businesses of SA Metal and Machinery Company (SA Metal) and 

Waste Control. Reclam is involved in the collection and processing of non-

ferrous and ferrous scrap metal. SA Metal also collects and processes ferrous 

and non-ferrous scrap metals. Waste Control owns certain vehicles and 

equipment, which it leases to SA Metal.

The Commission identifi ed a horizontal overlap between the activities of the 

merging parties in the markets for the sale of processed ferrous scrap metal 

and non-ferrous scrap metals in the Western Cape region and the national 

market, respectively. 
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The Commission’s investigation revealed that the merger would create a 

dominant fi rm in the market with market power. During the investigation, the 

Commission also received a number of submissions from market participants 

stating that the proposed transaction would create a dominant fi rm in the 

collection and processing of ferrous and non-ferrous scrap metals.  

The Commission concluded that the proposed merger was likely to lead to a 

substantial prevention or lessening of competition in the affected markets. In 

addition, the transaction had negative effects in the scrap metal sector, and on 

employment and the ability of small businesses to become competitive.

After the referral of the transaction by the Commission to the Competition 

Tribunal, the parties abandoned the merger.

Retail food: Pick ‘n Pay and Fruit & Veg City

The Commission recommended to the Tribunal that Pick ‘n Pay should be 

prohibited from acquiring Fruit & Veg City.  

The parties are competitors in the retail market for fresh food. The Commission 

analysed this market from both national and local perspectives. At the national 

level, the combined market share of the parties in the retail fruit and vegetable 

market would have been 58 percent. The parties have signifi cant market 

share in various local markets. Fruit & Veg City was identifi ed as a signifi cant 

competitive constraint to Pick ‘n Pay. This was illustrated by the fact that Fruit 

& Veg City had managed to capture market share from Pick ‘n Pay in markets 

where Fruit & Veg City had entered.  

The Commission took the view that the proposed acquisition would result in the 

removal of an effective competitor. The Commission held that the acquisition 

of Fruit & Veg City by Pick ‘n Pay would not just limit the current competition in 

the market, but would weaken future competition in this market, as Fruit & Veg 

City is continuously expanding its product offering and provides greater choice 

for consumers.

The Commission has highlighted the importance of vigorous competition in the 

retail market to ensure product choice and competitively priced food products 

for consumers. The Commission was of the view that the merger would harm 

consumers directly, as prices were likely to increase and consumer choice 

decrease after the merger.

After the Commission’s recommendation, the parties abandoned the merger. 

Mergers and Acquisitions: Hardin Ratshisusu, David Masilela, Geffrey Mudzanani, Mfundo Ngobese, Kwena Mahlakoana, Marlon Dasarath, Edwina Ramohlola, 

HB Senekal, Makgale Mohlala, Seema Nunkoo, Mogalane Matsimela, Lorraine Madihlaba, Lizel Blignaut, Ipeleng Selaledi, Lindiwe Khumalo, Brenda Maseko.
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2.3 Legal Services

The Legal Services division, headed by the chief legal counsel to the 

Commission, provides legal support and advice to the Commission, which 

includes conducting litigation on behalf of the Commission. It is made up 

mainly of admitted attorneys and advocates. The bulk of the division’s work 

comes from the Commission’s mergers and acquisitions, and enforcement 

work. The Legal Services division usually gets involved when cases are likely 

to be referred to the Tribunal and there are legal or potential legal challenges 

to the Commission’s position. The division also instructs external legal service 

providers when it does not have capacity to handle a matter.

Contested mergers

Legal Services handled seven contested mergers in the period under review. All 

but two of them were conducted with the assistance of external legal counsel. 

See table 9 below.

Prosecuting enforcement cases

The majority of cases handled in the Legal Services division are prosecutions 

of alleged restrictive practices and abuse of dominance in contravention of the 

Competition Act. Most of the cases are ongoing and have been carried over 

from previous fi nancial years. 

See table 10.

Table 9: Contested mergers

Acquiring fi rm Target fi rm Sector Intervenors Commission’s 

recommendation

Tribunal decision

Foskor Limited The phosphoric acid 

business of Sasol Chemical 

Industries 

Chemicals None Prohibition None - merger fi ling 

withdrawn

Phodiclinics and 4 

others

Protector Group Medical 

Services (in liquidation) and 

6 others

Healthcare Council for Medical 

Schemes

Unconditional approval Unconditional approval

Main Street 333 Kumba Resources Limited Mining None Conditional approval Unconditional approval

Primedia and another New Africa Investments 

Limited

Telecommunications African Media 

Entertainment 

Conditional approval 

subsequently changed to a 

prohibition

Unconditional approval

Lafarge Roofi ng Kulu Concrete Products Construction None Conditional approval Conditional approval

Telkom SA Business Connexions 

Group 

Telecommunications Gadlex Prohibition Prohibition

Netcare Hospital 

Group 

Community Hospital Group Healthcare None Prohibition Decision pending
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Table 10: Enforcement cases 

 
Complainant Respondent(s) Sector / markets Behaviour and section of Act transgressed

Botswana Ash and 

another

American Natural Soda 

Ash Corporation and 

another

Chemicals Fixing the selling price of soda ash (s4(1)(b)(i))

Competition Commis-

sion

Seven Eleven Corpora-

tion SA 

Retail Prescribing minimum prices at which goods could be sold 

(s5(2))

S M Pillay Udipa and its members Healthcare Fixing the price at which Udipa members who were doctors would service patients 

on the Udipa option 

(s4(1)(b) alt s4(1)(a), alt s8(d)(i), alt s8(c))

SAVA and another

Omnilink 

Telkom SA Telecommunica-

tions

All in relation to value added network services (VANS):

Abuse of dominance by, inter alia: imposing anticompetitive contractual restric-

tions, refusing to lease facilities to VANS, charging an excessive price for access 

facilities, engaging in price discrimination in respect of access facilities, and refus-

ing to peer 

(s8(b) and/or s8(c), s8(b) and/or s8(c) and/or s8(d)(i), s8(a) and/or s8(c) and/or 

s9, s8(b) and/or s8(c)

Comair South African Airways Air transport Inducing travel agents not to deal with competitors

(s8(d)(i) alt s8(c), s5(1))

Reclamation Group Consol and another Manufacturing 

- glass

Fixing the purchase price of cullet

(s4(1)(b)(i))

JT International 

South Africa 

British America Tobacco 

South Africa 

Retail - cigarettes Inducing retailers and merchandisers and other outlets not to deal with competi-

tors 

(s8(d)(i) and/or s8(c))

Tracetec  Netstar and 2 others Vehicle security Setting standards for VESA accreditation (vehicle security) which exclude com-

petitors from the market 

(s4(1)(a) and/or s8(c))

Competition Commis-

sion

Assa Abloy SA and 9 

others

Vehicle security Fixing the selling price of vehicle security devices 

(s4(1)(b)(i))

Competition Commis-

sion

South African Airways 

and 2 others

Air transport Agreeing on fuel levies

(s4(1)(b)(i))

Competition Commis-

sion

Nationwide Airlines Air transport Agreeing on fuel levies 

(s4(1)(b)(i))

Nutri-Flo CC Sasol Chemical Indus-

tries and 2 others

Chemicals - ferti-

lizer

Fixing the selling price of fertilizer products.  Excessive pricing and exclusionary 

conduct

(Sasol only)

(s4(1)(b)(i) alt s4(1)(a), s8(a), s8(c))
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Court work

The Legal Services division also handles court cases in which the Commission 

is involved. Currently, all appearances in courts are by practising advocates and 

attorneys. The Commission is exploring the possibility of its in-house lawyers 

appearing in court on its behalf. It is also trying to get a waiver from the General 

Council of the Bar’s rule that advocates have to be instructed via attorneys, so 

that it can instruct advocates directly when necessary. This would cut the costs 

of litigation signifi cantly. 

In the period under review, nine cases involving the Commission were before 

courts, the majority of which were before the Competition Appeal Court. Two 

cases were before the Transvaal Provincial Division of the High Court. Three 

of the cases before courts related to mergers, and the rest were enforcement 

cases. Most matters were interlocutory applications of a technical nature. 

In some cases, litigation has led to considerable delays in matters being 

fi nalised.

 

26

Complainant Respondent(s) Sector / markets Behaviour and section of Act transgressed

Profert Sasol Chemical Indus-

tries and 2 others

Chemicals - ferti-

lizer

Market allocation in relation to limestone ammonium nitrate (LAN), refusal to sup-

ply LAN and price discrimination in relation to LAN

(s4(1)(b) alt s4(1)(a), s8(d)(ii) alt s8(c), s9)

Competition Commis-

sion

Clover Industries and 7 

others

Agriculture - milk Fixing purchase price of raw milk; fi xing selling price of processed milk; agreeing 

to remove surplus milk from market; inducing suppliers not to deal with competi-

tors through exclusive supply agreements

(s4(1)(b)(i) alt s4(1)(a), s8(d)(i) alt s8(c) alt s5(1), s4(1)(b)(i) and s4(1)(b)(ii))

CTH Trading Senwes Limited Agriculture - silos Inducing grain producers not to deal with competitors 

(s8(d)(i) alt s8(d)(iii) alt s8(c), s9)

Barnes Fencing In-

dustries and others

Iscor and others Steel Price discrimination in relation to sale price of fl at steel products

(s9)

Barnes Fencing In-

dustries and others

Allen Meshco and others Steel Fixing the sale price of wire rod products 

(s4(1)(b)(i))

I I Mukkadum

Competition Commis-

sion

Tiger Food Brands and 

another

Retail - bread Fixing the selling price of bread

(s4(1)(b)(i) and s4(1)(b)(ii))
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Table 11: Appeals and reviews before courts

Appellant Respondent(s) What is appealed or reviewed Date of court 

decision

Decision of court Court

Telkom SA Competition Commission 

Competition Tribunal

Commission’s jurisdiction to refer the com-

plaint and the Tribunal’s jurisdiction to hear 

the matter

Case pend-

ing

Case pending Transvaal Provision-

al Division

Seatex Invest-

ments 

Competition Commissioner 

Wild Rush Trading 107 

Tiger Brands

Commission’s decision to approve an inter-

mediate merger

Case pend-

ing

Case pending Transvaal Provision-

al Division

Sasol Chemical 

Industries 

Competition Commission 

Competition Tribunal

Nutri-Flo 

Nutri-Fertilizer 

Kynoch Fertilizers 

Omnia Fertilizer 

Commission’s jurisdiction to refer the 

complaint

28/04/2006 Review dismissed Competition Appeal 

Court

Omnia Ferti-

lizer

Competition Commission 

Sasol Chemical Industries 

Kynoch Fertilizers

Nutri-Flo 

Nutri-Fertilizer 

Commission’s jurisdiction to refer the 

complaint

28/04/2006 Review dismissed Competition Appeal 

Court

American Natu-

ral Soda Ash 

Corporation

CHC Global 

Botswana Ash  

Chemserve Technical Products 

Webber Wentzel Bowens

Competition Commission

Tribunal’s decision to dismiss an appli-

cation to disqualify Botswana Ash  from 

participating in the Tribunal hearing

05/01/2007 Application dis-

missed

Competition Appeal 

Court

TWK Agricul-

ture

Competition Commission 

NCT Forestry Co-operative 

Shincel 

Shield Overall Manufacturers 

Commission’s decision to approve an inter-

mediate merger

Case pend-

ing

Case pending Competition Appeal 

Court

African Media 

Entertainment 

David Lewis NO 

Norman Manoim NO

Yasmin Carrim NO

Capricorn Capital Partners 

New Africa Investments 

Competition Commission

Tribunal’s decision to approve merger fol-

lowing request for consideration

Case pend-

ing

Case pending Competition Appeal 

Court

Johnnic Hold-

ings

Mercanto 

Investments 

Competition Tribunal  

Competition Commission

Rupert Smith NO

Commission’s interpretation of Tribunal 

order

Case pend-

ing

Case pending Competition Appeal 

Court
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Settlements

In the period under review, six matters were settled between the Commission and 

the respondents, by consent order. This means that the settlement agreement 

between the Commission and the respondent was confi rmed uncontested as 

Settlements

an order of the Tribunal. All settlements involved an agreement to stop the 

conduct and an administrative penalty, fi ve of the consent orders were without 

an admission of guilt and one with an admission of guilt. 

Table 12: Consent agreements

Complainant Respondent Market/sec-

tor

Behaviour Section of the Act trans-

gressed

Conditions of the order

Competition 

Commission

South African 

Airways 

Air transport Meetings and communications 

between employees of SAA and 

Lufthansa where ticket price 

changes were agreed upon

Price fi xing

(s4(1)(b)(i))

Administrative penalty of R20 million, 

changed conduct and compliance 

programme

No admission of guilt 

Competition 

Commission

Deutsche 

Lufthansa AG

Air transport Meetings and communications 

between employees of SAA and 

Lufthansa where price changes 

were agreed

Price fi xing

(s4(1)(b)(i))

Administrative penalty of R8 500 000 

and changed conduct 

No admission of guilt 

Competition 

Commission

South African 

Airways 

South African 

Express Airways 

Air transport Meetings and communications 

between employees of SAA and 

Comair where fuel levies were 

agreed upon

Price fi xing

(s4(1)(b)(i))

Administrative penalty of R20 000, 

changed conduct and compliance 

programme

No admission of guilt 

Steven Jacobs Oakley Athletic Retail – sun-

glasses

Oakley prescribed minimum 

prices at which its sunglasses 

could be sold by retail outlets

Maintaining a minimum 

resale price

(s5(2))

Administrative penalty or R212 100, 

changed conduct and compliance 

programme

Admission of guilt

Complainant was paid R400 in damages

Comair South African 

Airways 

Air Transport Payments of ‘override’ commis-

sions which induced travel agents 

to sell SAA’s tickets in preference 

to tickets of SAA’s competitors 

Abuse of dominance

(s8(d)(i) and/or s8(c))

Administrative penalty of R15 million, 

changed conduct and compliance 

programme

No admission of guilt 

Kwikot Zip Heaters (Aus-

tralia) 

Water heat-

ers / Retail

Zip Heaters tried to enforce a 

non-compete clause preventing 

Kwikot from trading

Price fi xing or creating 

anti-competitive trading 

conditions

(s4(1)(b)(ii) alt s4(1)(b)(i))

Administrative penalty of R78 500 

and changed conduct and compliance 

programme

No admission of guilt 
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Signifi cant legal precedent 

Important legal precedents were set in Tribunal decisions in some cases 

conducted by the Legal Services division on behalf of the Commission.  

Admission of guilt in consent agreements

In the case involving The Competition Commission v South African Airways 

and Others, Comair had lodged a complaint with the Competition Commission 

against South African Airways (SAA). The complaint related to the way in which 

SAA was compensating travel agents for their services. Comair alleged that 

SAA is a dominant fi rm in the market for domestic airline travel and that it used 

this dominance to engage in exclusionary practices. The Commission referred 

the complaint to the Tribunal, and Comair and Nationwide (which later also 

fi led a similar complaint against SAA) were granted leave to intervene in the 

proceedings. 

The Commission subsequently entered into a settlement with SAA and applied 

to the Tribunal to have the agreement confi rmed as a consent order. The 

settlement agreement included the following terms: that SAA would refrain 

from engaging in the conduct complained about; that it would implement a 

competition law compliance programme designed to ensure that this conduct 

does not recur in the future; and that it would pay an administrative penalty of 

R15 million.  

Both Comair and Nationwide opposed the confi rmation of the settlement 

agreement on various grounds, ranging from its alleged lack of compliance with 

the requirements of the Act, to the adequacy of the terms of the order and the 

amount of the fi ne. 

The Tribunal confi rmed the agreement as a consent order. In its fi ndings, the 

Tribunal ruled that there is no judicial prerequisite that a consent order must 

contain an admission of liability by the respondent – it may, or it may not – even 

when the respondent is required to pay an administrative penalty. The Tribunal 

further ruled that different consequences fl ow from different consent orders. 

It held that if the consent order does not contain an admission of guilt, the 

proceedings cannot be regarded as ‘completed proceedings’ and consequently, 

the complainant can still pursue the matter before the Tribunal. It also held that 

if the consent order contains an admission of guilt, the matter will be regarded 

as ‘completed proceedings’ and the respondent will be immunised against 

further proceedings in the Tribunal for the same conduct.

The Tribunal confi rmed that the Commission exercises discretion on the content 

of consent orders, which are negotiated on a case by case basis, and that the 

Tribunal would be reluctant to interfere with this discretion. The Tribunal stated 

that it exercises its oversight largely to determine whether the Commission 

acted rationally. 

Control versus coordination

In the merger involving Primedia and Capricorn on the one hand and New 

Africa Investments Limited (Nail) on the other, the subject of the hearing at 

the Tribunal was the change of control and the coordinated effects resulting 

from a merger taking place in the radio industry. The relevant assets in the 

analysis of this merger were Highveld Stereo and Talk 702 owned by Primedia, 

and the 24.9 percent stake held in Kaya FM by Nail. 

The merger had been previously approved by the Commission, but subject to 

conditions. The aim of the conditions was to eliminate any control or infl uence 

that Primedia or Capricorn could have over Kaya FM, such as the appointment 

of a representative to the board of Kaya FM. This was because the Commission 

had determined that the merger would result in a substantial reduction in 

competition by increasing the likelihood of coordination by fi rms in the market. 
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Primedia’s right to appoint a director to the board of Kaya would therefore 

enable this kind of coordinated strategy. The parties objected to the condition 

and requested the Tribunal to reconsider the Commission’s decision. They 

said that the conditions imposed by the Commission were too onerous and not 

warranted. A rival bidder, African Media Entertainment (AME) intervened in the 

proceedings and opposed the merger. At the Tribunal hearing the Commission 

called for the absolute prohibition of the merger.

Two central issues were covered in the evidence given by the economic and 

industry expert witnesses called by the parties and the Commission during 

the hearings. The fi rst issue was about the reasons for Primedia wanting to 

establish control over Kaya FM and how the transaction would enable Primedia 

to control or materially infl uence the behaviour of Kaya FM. The second issue 

related to the parameters and the dynamics of the market in which Kaya FM 

and radio stations owned by Primedia, namely 94.7 Highveld Stereo and 702 

Talk Radio, compete. This involved an analysis of the two sided markets in 

which radio stations compete, on the one hand in relation to listeners, who 

have a particular profi le and on the other, in relation to advertisers who target 

a particular audience. 

After lengthy hearings, the Tribunal unconditionally approved the merger. The 

Tribunal found that Primedia and Capricorn’s acquisition of Nail’s 24.9 percent 

interest in Kaya FM would not give them control over Kaya FM. It therefore 

found that competition in any of the markets in which the parties compete would 

not be substantially reduced or prevented. The Tribunal found that there was no 

evidence to show that there was an incentive for the merging parties to engage 

in a coordinated strategy and it also held that ‘at best coordination to give rise 

to joint control is a possibility but it is not a probability’. 

The Tribunal’s decision is the subject of a review application brought by AME. 

If coordination exists, the merger must make it even 
worse

This merger involved the consolidation of Anglo American BHB Billiton, Eyesizwe 

Mining and Kumba in Exxaro, which would be the largest coal company owned 

and controlled by historically disadvantaged individuals. The history of the 

industry was that the major players in the coal mining business taking part 

in this transaction were involved in joint shareholdings with each other and 

cross directorships were not uncommon. The merger still involved some joint 

shareholdings and cross directorships.  

The Commission was concerned that the existing cross directorships among 

competitors would lead to coordination of the behaviour of competitors. It 

therefore approved the merger subject to conditions that would prevent Anglo 

American from appointing a director or representative to the board of Exxaro 

and which would limit the fl ow of information among potential competitors.     

In analysing whether the transaction would result in coordination in the market, 

the Tribunal indicated that it would be useful to assess whether or not the 

following prerequisites were met: The participants in a coordinated strategy must 

believe that coordination is feasible and must be able to (i) reach agreement, 

(ii) monitor adherence to the agreement (iii) punish deviation so as to make it 

costly. The Tribunal found that cross directorships between competing fi rms 

provide a forum for the exchange of information in an innocuous setting and 

provide a highly effi cient mechanism for monitoring compliance with the terms 

of a coordinated strategy. In this case, however, the Tribunal found that the 

merger would not strengthen any existing coordination, and in fact appeared 

to weaken it. It found that competition was not reduced or prevented and so 

approved the merger without conditions.

Failing fi rm defence outweighs competition concerns

The proposed transaction involved Phodiclinics together with DJH Defty, 

acquiring the assets owned by New Protector Group Holdings (New 

Protector), a company that was placed under provisional liquidation in 

September 2004. New Protector’s assets consisted of four hospitals and the 

pharmacies operating within these hospitals. On conclusion of the transaction 

Phodiclinics would control all the businesses. Medi-Clinic owned 51 percent of 

Phodiclinics. Medi-Clinic owns and operates numerous hospitals throughout 

South Africa and controls, through Defty, most of the pharmacies located in the 

Medi-Clinic hospitals. New Protector had been hit by a series of misfortunes 

which ultimately led to its liquidation and to the proposed transaction. 

The Commission recommended an unconditional approval of the proposed 

transaction on the basis that New Protector was a failing fi rm. The matter 

attracted three intervenors: the Council for Medical Schemes (the CMS), 

Supreme Health Administrators (Supreme Health) and Network Healthcare 

Holdings (Netcare). Netcare objected to the transaction on the basis that it 

would lead to Medi-Clinic being dominant in the Vaal Triangle region and this 

would have the effect of substantially lessening and preventing competition 

in the region. It contended that there were other less anticompetitive options 

to the proposed merger, including an acquisition by Netcare itself of the New 

Protector assets. The CMS, on the other hand, objected to the transaction on the 

basis that concentration in the hospital industry, brought about by progressive 

acquisitions of independent hospitals by the three large groups, Netcare, Medi-

Clinic and Life, had resulted in an unacceptably high increase in hospital costs 
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over time. In the CMS’ view, the three major hospital groups ought not to be 

allowed to acquire any more independent hospitals. It also argued that the 

Tribunal should be concerned with regional dominance by any group because 

it provided the group with national leverage in its tariff negotiations with medical 

schemes and got in the way of preferred provider agreements being concluded 

with medical schemes. 

The Tribunal held that New Protector was technically a failing fi rm at the time of 

the merger transaction and considered that this outweighed any potential loss 

to competition resulting from the transaction. In relation to Netcare’s concerns 

about anticompetitive conduct by Medi-Clinic, the Tribunal found no credible 

incentive for Medi-Clinic to conduct itself in an anticompetitive way after the 

merger. The Tribunal found that, although barriers to entry in the private hospital 

market were high, medical schemes do enjoy some countervailing power. 

Concerning the argument that it makes more sense for a scheme to contract with 

a hospital group with a national footprint and preferred provider agreements, 

the Tribunal found no evidence to show that this transaction would enhance 

Medi-Clinic’s already strong national bargaining position or make it more 

diffi cult for medical schemes to conclude preferred provider agreements in the 

Vaal Triangle. In relation to the CMS’ contentions, the Tribunal agreed that there 

was high concentration in the private hospital market and noted that regulatory 

barriers had contributed to this. The Tribunal also did not have the jurisdiction 

to prohibit the three large hospital groups from acquiring any further hospitals. 

The Tribunal accordingly approved the merger unconditionally.
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2.4 Compliance

The mandate of the Compliance division is to promote voluntary compliance 

with the Competition Act and to communicate the decisions and activities of the 

Commission. This is done through: 

•  Providing advisory opinions and clarifi cations on the correct interpretation 

of the Act and the approach that the Commission is likely to take on specifi c 

matters 

•  Education and awareness programmes, training and assisting 

stakeholders

• Advocacy programmes and managing stakeholder relations

• Communication, including media liaison and newsletters.

Advisory opinions and clarifi cations

Advisory opinions and clarifi cations are aimed at providing guidelines to business 

and competition practitioners on the interpretation of the Competition Act and 

the position likely to be taken by the Competition Commission on a matter. They 

are non-binding on both the requester and the Commission. They are based 

on the facts that the requestor presents to the Commission. Clarifi cations can 

be written or verbal, while advisory opinions, which are more comprehensive, 

must be written. 

During the reporting period, we received 46 requests for advisory opinions. Of 

these, 33 were on mergers and acquisitions and the remaining 13 on prohibited 

practices. 42 opinions were issued at an average turnaround time of 24 days, 

and four opinions were pending at the end of the period under review. Last 

year’s average turnaround time was 30 days. A total of 30 requests came from 

legal fi rms, 13 from in-house legal advisors and three from corporate advisors.

84 written clarifi cations were issued. No clarifi cations were pending at the 

end of the fi nancial year. 16 of the clarifi cations were from small and medium 

enterprises (SMEs). 

While the number of opinions does continue to climb and opinions are becoming 

more complex, in the past two years the numbers have stabilised somewhat.

Stakeholder management, advocacy and 
awareness

The main aim of advocacy is to create awareness about competition law. To do this 

the Commission makes submissions to the relevant policy making agencies and 

legislatures. Our work in stakeholder management, advocacy, and awareness is 

interrelated and although it is coordinated from the Compliance division, it often 

requires inter-divisional teams. Stakeholder management involves maintaining 

relations with the Commission’s stakeholders, advocacy involves positively 

infl uencing the formulation of policy and legislation to promote consistency with 

sound competition principles, and awareness involves educating the public and 

stakeholders about the Competition Act and policy.  

Business

Most of our dealings with business are aimed at promoting compliance with the 

Competition Act. We maintain our business relations mainly through industry, 

trade and professional associations and, where necessary, through direct 

contact with fi rms.  

We conducted fi ve workshops for the business community on the overall 

application of the Act in relation to restrictive and or prohibited practices.  
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Interacting with the estate agency sector

We engaged the South African Council of Shopping Centres on issues pertaining 

to the retail industry and the possibility of conducting nationwide leasing/

retail seminars. These will address concerns raised by the industry about 

perceived high rentals, exclusive agreements/leases perceived to be imposed 

by anchor tenants who do not want competitors or competing products, and 

price discrimination by lessors between anchor tenants and others, particularly 

smaller entities. Our work in this important area continues.

Members of the public and SMEs expressed their concern to the Commission 

about:

•  The accreditation system  - the process whereby an estate agent is granted 

an exclusive permit to sell property in a particular estate

•  The sole mandate arrangement - an agreement whereby the seller gives 

the exclusive right to a particular estate agent to sell his/her property on 

his/her behalf for a certain period

•  Fixing commission - an agreement, practice, arrangement, or understanding 

whereby the estate agents agree to prescribe a minimum percentage of 

the commission to be charged from sellers  

•  Advertising properties in newspapers - estate agents buy space in 

property newspapers to advertise their properties on a daily, weekly and 

monthly basis. The Commission received complaints about agreements 

by a group of estate agents and some newspapers to exclusively advertise 

the group’s properties and not other estate agents’ properties. In some 

instances agents owning property guides refused to allow competing 

agents to advertise in their publication.

In response to these concerns the Commission established relations with the 

Estate Agency Affairs Board to promote compliance with the Competition Act in 

the sector. The Commission also organised a series of workshops in Gauteng, 

Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal and a total of 318 delegates representing 

estates agents attended. The aim of the workshops was to create awareness 

and promote compliance with the Competition Act.

As a result of the interventions in this sector, the estate agents that had been 

engaging in anticompetitive behaviour agreed to change their practices.  

Since this interaction between the Competition Commission and the estate 

agents the number of complaints about estate agents’ activities has decreased 

substantially. This refl ects the positive effect of this interaction on the conduct 

of the property industry.

Increasing competition law awareness among businesses 
and SMEs 

In the period under review the following events were held to increase competi-

tion law awareness in the SME sector:

•  Address to the Black Management Forum’s Vaal branch on the Competition 

Act

•  Presentation on the Competition Act at the SME mining conference in 

Limpopo. 65 delegates attended the conference

•  SME workshops in Mangaung, Thabanchu and Botshabelo. 95 SMEs 

were reached

•  Two Commission exhibitions in the Franchising and Business Opportunities 

Expos. 1,015 people were reached - mainly small and medium enterprise 

(SME) owners

•  Presentation at the Nedbank Start-up launch for SMEs, attended by about 

35 SME owners. 

A total of nine presentations attended by 778 delegates were conducted at 

institutions and conferences that dealt with SME and consumer issues.

Competition lawyers

Most of our advisory opinions are issued to law fi rms and some of our interactions 

with business are necessarily conducted through legal practitioners. We maintain 

close relationships with them. The Commission had its annual meeting with 

competition law practitioners where proposals were made on how to simplify 

the fi ling of mergers and practitioners were briefed on the Commission’s plans. 

The Commission now holds quarterly meetings with practitioners. 

Government

Our role in advocating for a competition culture with government departments 

strengthened in the period under review. Our activities included: 

Parliament

The Commission made presentations to the parliamentary portfolio committee 

on trade and industry in November 2006 and March 2007 and to the select 

committee on trade and industry of the National Council of Provinces in March 

2007. 

33towards a fair and efficient economy for all



Department of Trade and Industry

The Commission participated in the review process of the Estates Agency Act 

and made a submission on the Companies Bill.

Trade unions

We continue to build on our relationships with the trade unions, focusing on the 

employment issues raised by mergers. We would like to ensure that our activities 

promote an environment conducive to enhancing employment opportunities. 

Trade unions participated in 225 merger cases, and in 220 in the previous year. 

Two training workshops were conducted for trade union members in Gauteng 

and Mpumalanga, attended by a total of 39 delegates.   

We initiated a trade union consultative forum for unions’ general secretaries, 

to facilitate participation and debate by trade unions. The forum is still active 

and is an annual event. The objective of the forum is to review the level of 

participation by trade unions in merger transactions, assess the challenges and 

provide solutions.  

We also had a meeting for trade unions to give feedback on issues they had 

raised during the Competition Commission roadshows of 2005. 

Consumers

A meeting was held with the National Consumer Forum (NCF) to encourage 

consumer activism on competition matters and to revive working relations with 

the NCF. A memorandum of understanding between the two organisations is 

currently being developed.  

In March 2007, the Commissioner addressed the International Consumer Day 

Conference in Johannesburg. The conference was organised by the NCF 

and was attended by more than 200 delegates. The objective was to share 

with consumer organisations how the Competition Act advances consumer 

interests and what role consumers and consumer organisations play in the 

implementation of the Act. Consumer organisations committed themselves to 

working with the Commission in protecting consumers against unfair business 

practices.

The Commission also took part in the pre-awareness campaign for the 

International Consumer Rights campaign organised by the Department of 

Trade and Industry (DTI) in March 2007. 

The Commission made two presentations to the consumer protection conference 

organised by the Institute of International Research held in Gauteng. About 95 

delegates attended the conference.

Regulators

In view of the introduction of the Electronic Communications Act, 2005, and in 

particular Chapter 10, which gives the Independent Communications Authority 

of South Africa (Icasa) wide powers to regulate competition matters in the 

communications sector, the Competition Commission has been engaging with 

Icasa to review the current memorandum of understanding existing between the 

regulators. Overall, the Competition Commission wants to see more active and 

effi cient interaction and cooperation with Icasa in as far as the management of 

concurrent jurisdiction is concerned. Both are committed to maintaining good 

working relations to ensure the promotion and maintenance of competition in 

the communications sector.

The Competition Commission is also in the process of putting in place a 

memorandum of understanding with the National Liquor Authority. In terms of 

the National Liquor Act, 2003, the National Liquor Authority is empowered to 

ask for advice from the Commission regarding the effect of liquor manufacturing 

and/or distribution registration applications on competition. It is envisaged that 

a memorandum of understanding between the Commission and the National 

Liquor Authority will create a platform for addressing competition issues arising 

within the liquor industry.

The Commission received complaints from dental technicians about tariffs set 

by the South African Dental Technicians Council (SADTC). The SADTC is a 

statutory body constituted by mainly dental technicians which sets the minimum 

tariff for dental technicians. The Commission was concerned that this practice 

prevented dental technicians from charging prices lower than the set tariff. The 

Commission wrote a letter to the ministers of trade and industry and health 

requesting them to amend the Dental Technician’s Act, 1979, to remove any 

provisions that have an anticompetitive effect.

The Commission participates in the South African Regulators Forum (SARF). 

The Commission acted as the secretariat of SARF until 2006, when the National 

Gambling Board took over. During the past fi nancial year, no meetings of SARF 

were held.

The Commission also participated in a workshop on professional councils 

legislation amendments. These councils are affi liated to the Council of the 

Built Environment. The objective of the workshop was to ensure the uniform 

application of the amendments required by the Council on the Built Environment 

and the affi liated councils. 
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Communication

The Commission has received both positive and negative media coverage 

over the reporting period. Articles and inserts for broadcasting covered the 

Commission’s work in different sectors of the economy, as well as some 

specifi c enforcement and merger cases handled by the Commission. Negative 

coverage related to a perceived lack of capacity for the Commission to carry out 

all its responsibilities, regulatory delays for mergers and imposing unreasonable 

or unwarranted conditions. The coverage suggests that there is a broad 

understanding of the Commission’s role and activities. The Commission has 

been praised for the sterling work it does in tackling anticompetitive conduct in 

the economy.  

Coverage of high-profi le cases included the investigation into the milk cartel, 

the proposed merger of Pick n Pay/Fruit & Veg City, the banking enquiry, and 

the investigation into the price fi xing of bread by a number of bakeries. 

Our media monitoring service reported that, in the period under review, 2,942 

print articles were generated and that there were 1,083 broadcast items on 

both television and radio. To further promote the mandate of the Commission, 

six advertorials were placed in different publications. These included The 

Labour Bulletin, The Shopsteward, Succeed, Gaffney’s Business Contact, the 

Johannesburg Stock Exchange’s Reaching Out and Top Women In Government 

2006. 

We issued 12 media statements, and held 1 press conference on the banking 

enquiry, 6 television interviews and 6 radio interviews.
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2.5 Policy and Research 

The Policy and Research division is composed largely of economists together 

with the staff of the Commission’s information and resource centre. The division 

is headed by the chief economist and is responsible for undertaking economic 

analysis for complex cases, whether mergers or possible prohibited practices, 

with staff working as members of inter-divisional teams. The division also plays 

a leading role in studies by the Commission into the structure and behaviour of 

fi rms in identifi ed sectors. Under a new chief economist from November 2006, 

and with several new staff, the division has reviewed how to most effectively 

ensure rigorous economic analysis that contributes to decision-making in the 

Commission.

Economic analysis for cases

In order to fulfi l its primary role in undertaking economic analysis for cases, 

the Policy and Research division has focused on building internal capacity 

on the key economic questions on which cases generally turn. This is 

complemented by building on links with other competition authorities and with 

the wider international competition economics community. We aim for good 

quality economic inputs by ensuring effective participation of economists in 

case teams, identifying the relevant information and theories of anticompetitive 

harm, which allow decisions to be taken on the basis of sound economic 

analysis.

During the period under review, the Policy and Research division provided 

substantive economic analysis in at least 39 merger cases and 23 enforcement 

cases. Important cases where the Commission’s decisions turned on economic 

analysis provided by the division include the following mergers: Telkom/Business 

Connexion, Primedia/Nail, MTO/Boskor, KLK Landbou/Carnarvon Abattoir, 

Netcare/CHG, and Lexshell 668/Wakefi eld. The Telkom/Business Connexion 

case is dealt with under the Mergers and Acquisitions division of this report, and 

the Primedia/Nail case is covered under the Legal Services division. 

Private healthcare: Netcare Hospital Group and 
Community Hospital Group merger

Netcare Hospital Group (Netcare) notifi ed the Commission that it wanted to 

acquire 56 percent of the issued shares in Community Hospital Group (CHG), 

bringing its shareholding in CHG to 100 percent. Both parties are active in 

the private hospital market, Netcare being the largest hospital group in South 

Africa. CHG controls fi ve hospitals: two in Pretoria, two in Cape Town and one 

on the East Rand. 

In an earlier transaction in 2003, which was not notifi ed to the Competition 

Commission, Netcare acquired 43.75 percent of the issued share capital of 

CHG, which gave it joint control in CHG. Netcare admitted to contravening 

the Competition Act by implementing a merger before getting the necessary 

approvals. Netcare and CHG also entered into a consent agreement with the 

Commission in settlement of a complaint that the two fi rms were engaged in 

price fi xing in that CHG had adopted Netcare tariffs for all its services. A penalty 

has been agreed between the Commission and the parties, and the consent 

agreement has been referred to the Tribunal for confi rmation.

The Commission recommended that the proposed merger be prohibited. The 

Commission took the view that its analysis should take into account conditions 

of competition at the time of the present transaction as this is the situation 

which faces the Tribunal in deliberating on the deal. The Commission analysed 

the dynamics of competition from both a national and regional perspective, 

considering that private hospitals provide their services to national medical aid 

schemes and to local consumers in the areas of their location. It found that the 

market share gained at the national level would be small. However, in the East 

Rand, Cape Town and Pretoria regions, the markets were highly concentrated 

and the merger would facilitate Netcare’s dominance in those regions. 

The Commission assessed how medical aid schemes and private hospital 

groups negotiate, and the degree of countervailing power that the schemes 

enjoy, both of which have been affected by the Commission’s ending of collective 

negotiations by private hospitals under the Hospital Association of South 

Africa with the Board of Healthcare Funders in 2003. This has meant bilateral 

negotiations between hospital groups and medical schemes and administrators 

which have included the growth of network options. By selecting between rival 

hospitals to construct networks, schemes have been able to obtain signifi cant 

discounts and offer cheaper medical aid cover as a result. 

The Commission found that there are more medical aid options with different 

arrangements targeted at low income individuals, such as designated service 

provider arrangements and preferred provider arrangements. The ability of 

schemes to negotiate these arrangements is a function of rivalry between 

private hospital services providers such as the merging parties. 

The proposed merger therefore represented the acquisition of an important 

independent group of fi ve hospitals by one of the big three hospital groups and 

in the Commission’s view signifi cantly weakened rivalry for hospital services 

in the three major metropolitan regions where CHG is present. The matter is 

pending before the Competition Tribunal.
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 Coal production: Lexshell 668 and Wakefi eld merger

The economic analysis of the Lexshell 668/Wakefi eld merger of two local coal 

producers required assessing what has underpinned steep increases in local 

coal prices in recent years. Until recently, local coal prices have been competed 

down below prices earned on exports, even after the subtraction of transport 

and related costs. This has been because of the limited capacity to export coal 

through the lowest cost route of the Richards Bay Coal Terminal. With increasing 

capacity at the terminal and the opening up of export rights to a greater number 

of producers, exporting is becoming a more viable option for smaller producers. 

Having evaluated the conditions in the local coal market, the Commission 

recommended the merger be approved based on the capacities to supply the 

local coal market, taking into account the greater possibilities for export.

Research studies and projects

An important role of economic research is to study the existence and 

implications of possible anticompetitive structure and behaviour. This relates to 

the importance of competition for an effi cient economy, and may be related to a 

particular priority sector or industry, as identifi ed by a government department. 

These research activities are part of the responsibility of the Policy and 

Research division as a centre for knowledge and economic analysis within the 

Commission. The division also writes up internal briefi ngs on key economic 

principles and issues, often drawing on learning from cases.

The government’s Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa 

(Asgi-SA) identifi es competition as a key element in achieving government’s 

growth and development goals. Asgi-SA also highlights important sectors for 

achieving faster and broader based growth. The Policy and Research division 

has made inputs to the Commission’s decision making on which sectors to 

prioritise and the implications of Asgi-SA for the Commission’s work.

Review of infrastructure inputs and possible competi-
tion issues

One of the anchors of Asgi-SA is the government’s bold infrastructure investment 

programme, with a budget of R415.8 billion over the next three years. The 

implication of the sharp upward shift in infrastructure investment is signifi cant 

demand growth for the products and services required. Prices for some of these 

products and services may already be infl ated by anticompetitive behaviour 

and practices, while the demand growth may also be exploited by suppliers 

seeking to push through large price increases. This means that anticompetitive 

behaviour and practices have potentially huge costs for government and state 

owned enterprises (SOEs), and for the economy more broadly.

The Policy and Research division has therefore embarked on a scoping 

exercise to assess the health of competition in the infrastructure inputs sector. 

The project has three phases, the fi rst of which was completed in the period 

under review. 

•  Phase 1: provide an overview of government’s and SOEs’ spending on 

infrastructure  

•  Phase 2: focus on identifying priority product and services input products 

and markets and an initial review of competition levels in these markets

•  Phase 3: undertake research on each selected priority market, delving 

deeper into the market structure and competition conditions in these 

markets, and laying the basis for competition problems to be addressed.

Structure and pricing within the maize value chain

During the period under review, we undertook a comprehensive study on the 

market structure and pricing within the maize value chain at the request of the 

Minister of Agriculture. The objective was to examine the market structure of the 

maize value chain, analyse price and pricing trends in downstream and upstream 

markets, identify possible competition concerns and make recommendations 

for improving the competitiveness of the maize industry. Particular issues relate 

to the high levels of concentration and vertical integration in the value chain, 

including the size of former cooperatives. At the same time the Commission 

referred a case of anticompetitive behaviour by a commercial silo owner.

Policy and research briefs and reports

Various policy and research briefs were produced during the period under 

review. These included the following topics:

• The use of cross-price elasticities in market defi nition 

• The use of diversion ratios in horizontal mergers

• Merger evaluation in bidding markets

• Economies of scale in silo operation 

• The theory and use of critical loss in competition analysis

• Compulsory licensing of intellectual property rights in pharmaceuticals.
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Seminars, workshops and conferences

The division organises a monthly seminar programme for the Commission, as 

well as ad hoc sessions on important current competition issues, including those 

related to key competition cases. Members from the division also presented 

papers at external seminars.

Information and resource centre 

The information and resource centre provides an information service to the 

Commission and Tribunal, maintaining all the external information resources and 

buying new publications. The Commission relies on up-to-date information and 

research, given the dynamic nature of competition law, policy and economics, 

both in South Africa and internationally.

The resource centre now runs on the latest internet based library management 

software, which facilitates easy searching for the end user. All of our online 

subscriptions are listed and some are directly accessible from the software, 

giving a complete overview of all the information sources we offer. A total of 92 

new titles were bought. The resource centre gave further training for existing 

and new staff training on specifi c legal databases on an ongoing basis. 

International relationships

A number of the Commission’s activities involve interaction and collaboration 

with international competition bodies and competition authorities in other 

countries. The Commission has benefi ted from relationships with a number of 

international institutions and agencies, and has made contributions in several 

competition forums.

International competition forums

International Competition Network 

The Competition Commission has become very involved in the proceedings 

and activities of the International Competition Network (ICN). The ICN is a 

worldwide, virtual network of government competition authorities, which is 

structured into several working groups: cartels, mergers, unilateral conduct, 

telecommunications and competition policy implementation. The organisation 

functions through exchanging ideas and drafting best practice ideas via email,                 

which are formally adopted at every annual ICN conference. The Commission 

participates in a number of the ICN’s working groups.

The annual ICN conference was hosted by the South African competition 

authorities in May 2006, in Cape Town. The conference was a great success 

and reinforced South Africa’s leadership role in this forum. David Lewis, 

Chairperson of South Africa’s Competition Tribunal, was elected deputy chair 

of the ICN.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

While South Africa is not a member of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation 

and Development (OECD), the competition authorities participate in the 

OECD’s Competition Committee. South Africa is one of only nine non-member 

states to be granted observer status in the OECD Competition Committee for 

two years from January 2006. The OECD Competition Committee holds three 

working sessions each year on topics of current importance. Commission staff 

participated in all three meetings, and presented papers on the following: 

• Competition and increased effi ciency for retail payment cards

• The relationship between competition policy and environmental policy

• South Africa’s annual report on competition policy

• Competition issues in bidding markets

• Enhancing competition in real estate transactions

• Assessment of vertical mergers

• Competition, regulation and retail banking

• Plea bargaining and settlement of cartel cases

• Evidentiary issues in merger review.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development 

The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 

promotes the integration of developing countries into the world economy. 

The Commission participates in UNCTAD’s annual intergovernmental expert 

meeting on competition law and policy. The Commission attended the seventh 

session of this forum in October/November 2006. Issues discussed included 

the relationship between competition authorities and sectoral regulators; 

international cooperation in investigating and prosecuting hard-core cartels 

affecting developing countries; cooperation and dispute settlement mechanisms 

relating to competition policy in regional free trade agreements, taking into 

account issues of particular concern to small and developing countries; and the 

relationship between competition law and policy and subsidies.
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Competition agencies in other countries

United States of America Federal Trade Commission and 
Department of Justice

Since its inception, the Commission has had support from the Federal Trade 

Commission (FTC) and the Department of Justice (DOJ). In the period under 

review, there was ongoing interaction with offi cials from the FTC and DOJ. The 

Commissioner attended and presented at the antitrust section meeting of the 

American Bar Association in Washington DC in March 2006 and visited the 

DOJ and FTC in April 2006. In March 2007, offi cials from the FTC and DOJ 

held a workshop with Commission staff. In addition, the FTC’s Commissioner 

visited the Competition Commission in February 2007 and gave presentations 

on developments in healthcare and telecommunications, with reference to 

recent USA case law.

Donor agencies

United States Agency for International Development 

The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) has provided 

funding to the Commission since its inception. A fi rst phase of funding was 

provided from 1999 to 2005. A second phase, from 2006 to June 2007, aimed 

at supporting the Commission to consolidate itself as an effective competition 

authority. In the period under review, USAID allocated US$106 000 to the US 

Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and US Department of Justice (DOJ) to build 

the Commission’s capacity to undertake enforcement actions. The FTC and 

DOJ used the funding to pay for certain of their expert staff to run training 

workshops at the Commission, the fi rst of which was held in March 2007. Its 

objective was to develop investigative skills for abuse of dominance cases. 

Twenty-two participants attended the workshop. Two more workshops and a 

study trip to the US are planned between April and June 2007.
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2.6 Corporate Services 

The Corporate Services division provides an enabling and supportive 

environment for staff and divisions to function optimally. It does this through 

fi ve sections: human resources, fi nance, IT, registry and security and facilities. 

In the period under review, the division put a lot of time, energy and resources 

into coordinating the strategic planning exercise and completing the job-grading 

and pay benchmarking processes.  

Strategic planning

The strategic planning exercise was driven from the Commissioner’s Offi ce and 

the Corporate Services division. 

Between 1998 and 2005, the Commission devoted its energies to establishing 

its institutional capacity, making itself known to the legal community, consumers 

and stakeholders, setting up business processes to streamline investigations 

and increasing its knowledge of competition law. By 2006, it was recognised that 

the Commission was entering into a second phase in its existence during which 

it would consolidate its institutional capacities and processes so as to chart 

a more strategic course. The Commission was also experiencing signifi cant 

changes in its external and internal environment, including leadership changes 

and new appointments in senior management positions, and the adoption by 

the government of the Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa 

(Asgi-SA). The role of the competition authorities within this context is critical, 

and has led to a government review of competition law and policy. All these 

changes impacted on the current positioning of the Commission. 

In August 2006, the Commission embarked on a strategic planning process to 

take stock of the changes, assess how they impact on the organisation and 

make strategic choices for repositioning of the organisation over the next fi ve 

years.

The main aims of the strategic planning process were to: 

•  Consolidate the experience the Commission had gained since its 

inception

• Better understand the role of competition regulation

• Evaluate the effectiveness of the institution

• Evaluate opportunities and threats

• Understand the needs and expectations of its stakeholders

• Evaluate information and knowledge management systems

• Review the organisational structure

• Understand the implications of budgetary and resource constraints.

The Commission wanted to establish priorities for the organisation and strategies 

to address these, along with realistic objectives and targets, and to determine 

what resources and budget would be required for implementation.

The strategic plan of the Commission was adopted in February 2007, and its 

fi ve main strategic thrusts are:

• Increase staff morale and motivation

•  Align organisational structure and work processes to the Commission’s 

strategic priorities

• Defi ne and clarify the Commission’s approach and methodology

•  Establish the Commission as a centre of information, knowledge and 

expertise

• Ensure effective advocacy and communication.

To implement the Commission’s strategic plan, fi ve workstreams have been 

set up to deal with each of the strategic priorities. The workstreams are 

comprised of inter-divisional teams, led by a divisional manager as champion. 

Implementation plans have been drawn up by each workstream, which meet 

regularly to drive the process and assess progress being made.

Job-grading and pay benchmarking exercises

Two key achievements during the period under review were fi nalising the job 

grading exercise, and undertaking a pay benchmarking process. Both were 

completed in January 2007. Staff participated widely in both exercises. 

The key driver for the exercises was the gap between Commission salary 

scales and those paid in the private sector and other institutions. Skills in 

competition law and enforcement are scarce and annually, the Commission 

loses a number of highly skilled staff to the private sector. This, together with 

the increased workload of staff, prompted a review of job descriptions and job 

grading. We wanted to ensure that remuneration would be market related and 

commensurate with responsibilities.

The aim of the job description process, which began in October 2005 and ended 

in August 2006, was to ensure that jobs in the Commission are well designed and 

logically ranked and that they complement other human resource processes, 

and to provide staff with an opportunity to give input into the review of their jobs. 

54 job descriptions were reviewed and updated. Each job description was then 

graded. Management and individual staff members were interviewed as part of 
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the job grading exercise, which is a scientifi c and systematic process of defi ning 

the relative rank of jobs within a workplace. 5 job descriptions received new job 

gradings, at more senior levels. This affected 21 percent of technical staff at the 

Commission.

Benchmarked against the national bands it was found that Commission salaries 

for most grades are lower than market related salaries, and recommended an 

increased salary scale that would enable the Commission to compete effectively 

for employees in both the public and private sector. The Department of Trade 

and Industry (DTI) has been approached to approve revised salary scales. 

In the meantime, an interim salary scale has been implemented for each job 

grade. This ensures that the minimum salary payable is market related, while 

the maximum possible salary remains at the existing Commission level.

Human resources

The Competition Commission has a comprehensive human resources strategy 

designed to achieve the organisation’s overall strategic objectives. This 

includes developing talent, improving the knowledge base and competencies 

of employees and creating an environment that is conducive to attracting and 

retaining high quality employees at all levels. We actively support a culture of 

equality.

Table 13: Staff profi le as at 31 March 2007

Category
Mergers & 

Acquisitions

Enforcement & 

Exemptions

Legal 

Services
Compliance

Policy & 

Research

Corporate 

Services

Commissioner’s 

Offi ce
Total

Management 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7

Technical staff 11 13 7 7 6 0 2 46

Administrators 2 2 1 2 3 16 1 27

Consultants 1 118 0 0 0 2 0 14

Graduate trainees 6 5 3 3 1 2 0 20

Total staff 21 32 12 13 11 21 4 114

Table 14: Management and technical staff expertise as at 31 March 2007

Category Lawyers Economists Other Total

Management 3 2 2 7

Technical staff 31 15 0 46

Total 34 17 2 53
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8  Seven consultants are part of the Banking Enquiry technical team.
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New appointments

In August 2006, Shan Ramburuth was appointed as Commissioner.

There were two new management appointments: Simon Roberts was 

appointed as the Commission’s chief economist and head of the Policy and 

Research division; and Tembinkosi Bonakele was appointed as manager of the 

Compliance division. 

N
There were 26 resignations during the reporting period and exactly the same 

number of new recruitments. This excludes resignations and recruitments under 

the graduate trainees.

See table 15.

Employment equity

The Commission’s workforce refl ects the diversity of South Africa, and having 

a representative and diverse staff is an ongoing objective. Our employment  

equity plan and report were both submitted in October 2006. Table 16 refers to 

Commission staff, excluding consultants and graduate trainees. 

The graduate training programme

In line with the Commission’s belief in the meaningful transfer of practical 

skills, this programme, which has been running since 2000, offers graduates 

an opportunity to get hands-on training in competition regulation and related 

subjects. The programme also equips graduates with general workplace skills 

to prepare them for the market and make them more employable. 

During the period under review, 20 graduate trainees were recruited to the 

Commission, with 14 new recruits joining in February 2007. 

Employee performance

Employees at all levels of the Competition Commission are rewarded for 

excellent performance. The Commission’s performance management system is 

also aimed at encouraging higher levels of performance. Where the performance 
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Table 15: Number of recruitments and resignations per division for the period under review

Category
Mergers & 

Acquisitions

Enforcement & 

Exemptions

Legal 

Services

Compli-

ance

Policy & 

Research

Corporate 

Services

Commissioner’s 

Offi ce

Total

Number of resignations 2 5 2 6 5 4 2 26

Number of resignations

(Graduate trainees)

1 2 3 0 0 1 0 7

Number recruited 4 5 2 4 7 1 3 26

Number recruited (Graduate trainees) 3 5 2 3 1 1 0 15

Table 16: Employment equity (race and gender) as at 31 March 2007

Ethnic Group Male Female Total

African 31 17 48

White 10 9 19

Coloured 3 2 5

Asian 4 4 8

Total 48 32 80
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of individuals is below standard, measures are in place for encouraging and 

helping employees to improve their performance. 

For the period under review, a total of 77 eligible staff members met or exceeded 

the objectives of the performance management system, thus qualifying for the 

annual performance bonus, which was paid out to staff in March 2007. The 

average percentage of bonuses paid in March 2007 was 13.92 percent, as 

opposed to the 15.05 percent in 2005/6. The 13.92 percent comprises 13.3 

percent of the total salary bill for the Commission for 2007.

Towards the end of 2006, the Commission held an annual awards ceremony, 

where individual staff members were recognised for best performance. 

Sick leave is awarded at a rate of 36 days paid sick leave over a three year 

cycle. The patterns of sick leave in the Competition Commission do not indicate 

a problem of excessive leave taking.

See table 17 below.

Employee welfare

The Commission has a contract with the Independent Counselling and Advisory 

Service, which provides a free wellbeing programme to all employees. The 

service entitles employees and their immediate family members to use the 

confi dential advisory service for matters relating to their personal lives, or 

fi nancial and legal issues.

For the period under review, the service was used by Commission staff more 

than the national average. This is a good sign as it indicates that employees feel 

comfortable talking about their problems in a safe environment. In November 

2006, we held a highly successful health-day, where employees could take part 

in various health-related tests and surveys. 

The Commission also supports HIV and AIDS initiatives and participated in 

various programmes aimed at reducing the risk of HIV and AIDS and other 

related health issues such as TB. The Commission has an HIV and AIDS policy 

in place. The policy ensures that employees and prospective employees with 

HIV and AIDS who disclose their HIV status are not treated differently from 

those with comparable life threatening diseases. 

Employees were constantly informed about the Commission’s activities 

through regular divisional feedback sessions, weekly electronic newsletters, 

and monthly staff meetings. These initiatives ensure that key messages are 

delivered to everyone timeously.

Skills development 

The Commission funds both formal and informal training courses at various 

academic institutions. The Commission funded 57 employees attending a 

range of academic and formal and informal courses relevant to their work 

and professional development. With a total of 87 training interventions, some 

employees attended more than one training course.

Courses covered diverse topics and included legal writing, corporate fraud 

investigation and management, facility and space planning management, 

project management, international trade law, and accounting. 

Academic courses included certifi cates, diplomas, and degrees in economics. 

The Commission provides study loans to employees wishing to advance their 

studies, and if they pass, the loans get converted to bursaries. They then 

commit to an agreed amount of time in service. In the period under review, the 

Commission granted 19 loans to the value of R218,079, and all were converted 

to bursaries. 
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Table 17: Leave and sick leave uptake for the period under review

Category
Mergers & 

Acquisitions

Enforcement & 

Exemptions

Legal 

Services
Compliance

Policy & 

Research

Corporate 

Services

Commissioner’s 

Offi ce

Total

Uptake in annual leave 230 193 156 145 73.5 328 21.5 1147

Possible uptake 440 594 286 286 242 462 88 2398

Uptake in sick leave 46 95 28 81 31 162 12 455
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Competition Law – European Commission Summer School, 
Cambridge University

Employees are also exposed to international best practice in the fi elds of 

competition law and economics. During the period under review, the Commission 

sent nine employees to the Competition Law-EC Summer School in Cambridge 

(UK). They were Mapato Rakhudu, Mogalane Matsimela, Lindiwe Khumalo, 

Liziwe Konyana, Dumisani Motsamai, Tembinkosi Bonakele, Lebogang 

Madiba, Hendrik Thwala and Shadrack Rambau. The delegates represented 

fi ve divisions of the Commission.

Labour relations

A collective agreement with the Public Service Association (PSA) is in place. 

The PSA is the union representing the majority of employees and more than 50 

percent of the Commission’s staff are represented.

Management-union relationships were reasonably cordial during the reporting 

period and regular meetings were held to sustain and manage these 

relationships.

Disciplinary and grievance cases were handled and settled amicably, and 

none of the disciplinary hearings resulted in the termination of services. During 

the period under review, only two disciplinary hearings were conducted, both 

resulting in a fi nal written warning. 

Information technology

The IT department provides a secure, user friendly and effi cient IT environment 

for employees. The Commission’s IT system is up-to-date and all the necessary 

upgrades were carried out in the period under review. All obsolete IT assets 

were replaced. Email systems were upgraded and a mail archiving system was 

installed in compliance with the Electronic Communications Act, 2005.

The banking enquiry website was launched and is managed by the 

department.

The IT department also played an important role in setting up the audio visual 

and electronic communication facilities for the ICN conference.
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Registry

The total number of new cases registered, scanned, fi led and archived 

decreased by 8 percent, from 703 in the previous year to 645 in the period 

under review.

In compliance with the Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000, we made 

the records of 27 cases available to the public on request. Average turnaround 

time to meet a request was 6 business days. Access was denied in 6 instances 

because of the confi dential or restricted nature of the information.  

Security and facilities management

A key project during the period under review has been the construction of 

additional offi ces and alterations to offi ce space. In the Commission’s offi ce 

space, 7 new offi ces and 4 touch down work stations were added. Audits to 

assess safety measures in place at the Commission were conducted for water 

purifi cation, environment, lighting and air pollution.  

During the period under review, various security related functions were 

undertaken, including routine de-bugging of offi ces, management of access 

control in the building and security vetting. 51 record checks were completed 

and 34 vetting forms were submitted to the National Intelligence Agency.
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3. Corporate Governance

Structures and decision-making

The Competition Commission 

The powers of the Competition Commission are vested in the Commissioner 

who, as chief executive offi cer, is directly responsible to the Minister of Trade 

and Industry. The Commissioner is responsible for the general administration 

of the Commission and for performing any functions assigned to it in terms of 

the Competition Act.

For purposes of decision making on cases, the Commission consists of the 

Commissioner and the Deputy Commissioner.

The executive committee

The Commission has an executive committee under the chairpersonship of 

the Commissioner. The committee meets weekly and held 47 meetings in 

the period under review. The committee makes decisions on mergers and 

acquisitions, enforcement and exemptions, and approves advisory opinions. It 

also addresses strategic planning, policy matters and approves major capital 

expenditure for the Commissioner’s discretion. The Commission secretary 

advises the committee on compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

Table 18: The executive committee

Name of member Position Date of appointment Date of termination

Shan Ramburuth Commissioner 26 July 2006

Thulani Kunene Manager: Enforcement and Exemptions

Acting Deputy Commissioner

1 September 2005

22 June 2006

Maleho Nkomo Manager: Corporate Services 1 July 2001 30 August 2006

Geoff Parr Chief economist

Manager: Policy and Research

1 February 2002 30 June 2006

Lizel Blignaut Manager: Mergers and Acquisitions 1 February 2004

Mark Worsley Chief legal counsel 

Manager: Legal Services

1 September 2005

Tembinkosi Bonakele Manager: Compliance 1 February 2007

Simon Roberts Chief economist

Manager: Policy and Research

1 November 2006

Johan Dreyer Company Secretary

Acting Manager: Corporate Services

1 August 1999

1 September 2006
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Oversight responsibilities

The audit committee

The audit committee, established in March 2000, supports the Commission’s 

executive committee in fulfi lling its oversight responsibilities relating to internal 

controls, risk management, compliance with laws, regulations and fi nancial 

management.

An independent non-executive member chairs the committee and both the 

internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the committee. The 

audit committee held four meetings in the reporting period. It reviewed quarterly 

internal audit reports, internal and external audit plans, risk assessment plan, 

the fraud prevention plan and fi nancial statements for the period ending 31 

March 2007. The audit committee also reviewed the audit charter during the 

period under review.

In the year under review, the audit committee consisted of Humphrey Buthelezi 

(chairperson), Sakhile Masuku, Tobie Verwey and Nonku Tshombe. The 

Commission was represented by Maleho Nkomo and Johan Dreyer.  

Internal auditors

The internal auditing function for the Commission is outsourced, and in the 

period under review was carried out by Ngubane & Co.

Internal fi nancial controls

The Commission has policies, procedures and systems which are designed 

to provide reasonable assurance of the integrity and reliability of its fi nancial 

statements, and to adequately protect, verify and maintain accountability for 

its assets. These internal fi nancial controls are implemented by qualifi ed and 

trained personnel within a system characterised by checks and balances. 

The effectiveness of internal fi nancial controls is monitored by Commission 

management, as well as by the internal auditors. All signifi cant fi ndings are 

reported to the audit committee and Commissioner.

The Commissioner and the external and internal auditors are not aware of any 

material breakdown in the functioning of these internal controls and systems in 

the period under review.

Risk management

With the assistance of the internal auditors, management is responsible for 

proactively identifying, evaluating, and managing and monitoring all signifi cant 

risks faced by the Commission. Some of the signifi cant risks to which the 

Commission was exposed in the period under review include operational, 

technological and regulatory risks.

A revised risk management strategy was drawn up during 2006 with a view 

to safeguarding the Commission’s staff, assets, corporate credibility and 

reputation. 

Compliance with legislation

Public Finance Management Act, 1999, and Treasury 
Regulations

In accordance with the PFMA and Treasury regulations, the Commission 

submitted the following documents to the Department of Trade and Industry for 

approval in the period under review:

• Memorandum of agreement with the Department of Trade and Industry

• Request to retain surpluses generated as at 31 March 2007 

•  Quarterly reports on the Commission’s expenditure, budget variance, 

activities and performance against set targets

• Monthly expenditure reports

• Strategic plan and budget for the three year period 2006 to 2009.

Skills Development Act, 1998

The Commission submitted quarterly training reports and an annual Workplace 

Skills Plan was submitted in June 2006.

Skills Development Levies Act, 1999

A skills development levy equal to 1 percent of total payroll is paid monthly to 

SARS. This gets distributed to the relevant Setas which promote training in 

various disciplines. Employers are able to claim back part of the skills levies 

paid as a skills grant. 
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Employment Equity Act, 1998

In terms of this Act, the Commission is obliged to submit an employment 

equity report every alternate year. The report was submitted in October 2006 

and the next one is due in October 2008.

Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases 
Act, 1993

A return of earnings was submitted in March 2007. This provides an estimate 

cost of possible claims that can be lodged against the Compensation Fund in 

terms of this Act. 

Unemployment Insurance Act, 2001 

For the period under review, all contributions to the Unemployment Insurance 

Fund were paid over on a monthly basis. These contributions consist of an 

employee contribution of 1 percent and employer contribution of 1 percent, but 

capped at a maximum of R116.62.

Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993

During the period under review, the Commission took all reasonable precautions 

to ensure a safe working environment. We also conducted our business with 

due regard for environmental issues. 

Value Added Tax Act, 1991

In terms of section 24(1) of the Value Added Tax Act, 1991, the Commission 

was deregistered as a VAT vendor effective 1 April 2005. 

Income Tax Act, 1962

The South African Revenue Service exempted the Commission in terms of 

section 10(1)(A)(i) of the Income Tax Act, 1962. 

Levies and taxes
 
The Commission has registered for, and met its obligations in relation to the 

following levies and taxes:

• Skills development levy

• Workmen’s compensation

• Regional Services Council levy 

• Unemployment Insurance Fund

• Pay-as-you-earn (PAYE).
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The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation, integrity and 

fair presentation of the fi nancial statements of the Competition Commission.  

The fi nancial statements presented on pages 56 to 77 have been prepared 

in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice including any interpretations of such Statements issued 

by the Accounting Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practice issued by the Accounting Standards Board 

to the extent as indicated in the accounting policies, and include amounts 

based on judgements and estimates made by management.  The Accounting 

Authority also prepared the other information included in the annual report 

and is responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with the fi nancial 

statements.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the fi nancial statements.  

The Accounting Authority has no reason to believe that the Commission will 

not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts and 

available cash resources.  These fi nancial statements support the viability of 

the Commission.

The fi nancial statements have been audited by the Auditor-General, which was 

given unrestricted access to all fi nancial records and related data including 

minutes of meetings of the Executive Committee.  The Accounting Authority 

believes that all representations made to the Auditor-General during his audit 

are valid and appropriate.

The audit report of the Auditor General is presented on page 54 to 55. The 

fi nancial statements were submitted for auditing on 31 May 2007. The fi nancial 

statements were revised in respect of the audit fi ndings and the fi nal approved 

fi nancial statements were signed on 29 June 2007.

Mr S Ramburuth

Accounting Authority

29 June 2007 

Statement of Responsibility

for the year ended 31 March 2007
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This report was prepared as per the Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) 

and (c) for public entities issued in terms of the Public Finance Management 

Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended by Act 29 of 1999.

The Competition Commission is listed as a national public entity in Schedule 3A 

of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).

The Audit Committee consists of external members who serve a three year 

renewable term. The external members namely Mr. S. Masuku and T Verwy 

were replaced as their term expired at the end of March 2007. They were 

replaced by Ms. J. Armstrong and Mr. J. Rapoo in May 2007.

The Audit Committee met 5 times during the year under review. The composition 

of the Audit Committee is set out below:

Name of Member  No. of meetings attended

1. Mr. H. Buthelezi 

 (Chairperson – Resigned 8 June 2007 ) 5

2. Mr. S. Masuku   

 ( End of term – 31 March 2007 )  5

3. Mr. T. Verwey    ( End of term -  31 March 2007 ) 5

4. Ms. N. Tshombe 

 ( Chairperson – Appointed 27 June 2007) 2

5. Ms. J. Armstrong ( Appointed – 1 May 2007)

6. Mr. J. Rapoo ( Appointed – 1 May 2007) 

Other persons who attended the Audit Committee meetings regularly include 

the internal auditors, representatives from the Auditor-General, Mrs. M Nkomo 

(Chief Financial Offi cer up to 26th July 2006) and Mr. J Dreyer (Commission 

Secretary and Acting CFO from 27th July 2006), both of whom represent 

management.

The Committee operates in accordance with the terms of its charter and is 

satisfi ed that it has discharged its responsibilities in compliance with its 

charter.

The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that 

assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and working capital are effi ciently 

managed. In line with the requirements of the PFMA and the King ll Report 

on Corporate Governance, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and 

management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and 

effective. This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as well 

as the identifi cation of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the 

controls and processes. From the various reports of the Internal Auditors and 

External Auditors, no signifi cant or material non-compliance with prescribed 

policies and procedures have been reported. The Audit Committee believes 

that the systems of internal control for the period under review were effective 

and effi cient.  

The Audit Committee has:- 

•  Reviewed and discussed the audited Competition Commission annual 

fi nancial statements to be included in the annual report with the Auditor-

General and management;

•  Reviewed the Auditor-General management letter and management’s 

response thereto;

•   Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices; 

• Reviewed signifi cant adjustments resulting from the audit; and

•  Reviewed the year end management reports and was satisfi ed with the 

quality and contents thereof.

The Audit Committee agrees and accepts the Auditor-General‘s conclusions on 

the annual fi nancial statements. 

Ms Nonku Tshombe 

Chairperson 

Audit Committee

Report of the Audit Committee

for the year ended 31 March 2007
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL TO PAR-
LIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE 
COMPETITION COMMISSION  FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH 2007

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

1.  I have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of the Competition 

Commission which comprise the statement of fi nancial position as at 31 

March 2007, statement of fi nancial performance, statement of changes 

in net assets and cash fl ow statement for the year then ended, and a 

summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, 

as set out on pages 56 to 77.

Responsibility of the accounting authority for the fi nancial statements

2.  The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with the South 

African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) 

including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting 

Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board 

and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 

(Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). This responsibility includes: 

 •  Designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 

the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

 • Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies

 •  Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General

3.  As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South 

Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 

25 of 2004) and section 40(10) of the Competition Act, 1998 (Act No. 89 

of 1998), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial 

statements based on my audit.

4.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on 

Auditing and General Notice 647 of 2007, issued in Government Gazette No. 

29919 of 25 May 2007. Those standards require that I comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

5.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

6. An audit also includes evaluating the:

 • Appropriateness of accounting policies used

 • Reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management

 • Overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

7.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Basis of accounting 

8.  The public entity’s policy is to prepare fi nancial statements on the basis of 

accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting 

policy note 1.1.

Opinion 

9.  In my opinion the fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the fi nancial position of the Competition Commission as at 31 March 2007 

and its fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended, 

Report of the Auditor General

for the year ended 31 March 2007
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in accordance with the basis of accounting determined by the National 

Treasury of South Africa, as described in note 1.1 of the accounting policies 

to the fi nancial statements and in the manner required by the PFMA.

OTHER MATTERS

10.  I draw attention to the following matters that are ancillary to my 

responsibilities in the audit of the fi nancial statements:

Material misstatements in the fi nancial statements submitted for audit on 

31 May 2007

11.  The fi nancial statements, approved by the accounting authority as 

submitted for audit on 31 May 2007 have been revised in respect of the 

following material misstatements identifi ed during the audit:

 •  The disclosure of related parties transactions and balances was 

corrected. The disclosure of related party balances changed from a 

total of R512 000 to a total of R1 959 000.  The disclosure of related 

party transactions changed from a total of R100 351 000 to a total of 

R111 404 000. 

 •  The remaining useful lives and residual values of assets was 

reviewed in accordance with IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment 

subsequent to the submission of the annual fi nancial statements 

on the 31 May 2007 resulting in assets increasing and depreciation 

decreasing by R 241 740.

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

Reporting on performance information

12.    I have audited the performance information as set out on pages 79 to 84.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority

13.  The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by 

section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the annual report and audited 

fi nancial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined 

objectives of the public entity.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General

14.  I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the Public 

Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) read with General Notice 646 of 2007, 

issued in Government Gazette No. 29919 of 25 May 2007. 

15.  In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures 

of an audit nature to obtain suffi cient appropriate evidence about the 

performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement.

16.  I believe that the evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for the audit fi ndings reported below. 

Audit fi ndings

Lack of documented system generating performance information

17.  Although a process is followed by the Competition Commission for the 

collection, recording, reviewing and reporting of performance information, 

the processes and procedures implemented have not been formalised into 

a policy and procedures document.

APPRECIATION

18.  The assistance rendered by the staff of the Competition Commission 

during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

R Govender for Auditor-General

Pretoria

30 July 2007

Report of the Auditor General (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Commission derives its mandate from the Competition Act No. 89 of 1998, 

as amended.  The main objectives, as determined by the Competition Act, are 

the following: 

• Promote effi ciency, adaptability and development of the economy;

• Provide consumers with competitive prices and product choices;

•  To promote employment, and advance social and economic welfare of 

South Africans;

•  To expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets 

and recognise the role of foreign competition in the Republic;

•  To ensure that small and medium sized enterprises have an equitable 

opportunity to participate in the economy; and 

•  To promote the greater spread of ownership, in particular to increase the 

ownership stakes of historically disadvantaged persons.

Accounting Authority’s Report

for the year ended 31 March 2007

2.  FINANCIAL OVERVIEW / PERFORMANCE

2.1 Financial Highlights

  2007  2006

  R’000 R’000

  

 Revenue 68 118 68 902

 Interest received   3 401   3 345 

Total Revenue 71 519  72 247

Expenditure 74 886  62 258

Net surplus/(defi cit)  (3 367)   9 989 

Total assets 47 995 52 532

Total liabilities  9 603 10 773

No. of  Merger cases fi led    413 411
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2.2 Total Revenue

Total revenue decreased from R72 million in 2006 to R71 million in 2007.  The 

1% decrease was as a result of a slight decrease in grants and transfers as well 

as other income. 

An overall increase of 3% on fi ling fee income was achieved due to an increase 

in the number of merger notifi cations received.  Merger cases fi led during the 

year increased by 0,73% to 413(2006 : 411). 

Interest earned on temporarily available funds increased from R3.3m in 2006 

to R3.4m in the period under review.  The 2% increase was due to optimum 

interest earned on excess funds as well as the interest rate changes during the 

year.

Other income, decreased by 62% to approximately R0.28 m (2006: R0.74m).   

The decrease was mainly due to no court awards as in previous years as well 

as no substantial amounts refunded for study fees.

2.3 Expenditure

Expenditure increased from R62 million in 2006 to R75 million in 2007, 

refl ecting an overall increase of 21%.  This was as a result of the increase in 

employee cost due to vacancies being fi lled as well as an increase in litigation 

and consulting fees due to the complexity of cases. 

2.4 Financial Performance

The Commission generated a defi cit of R3.367m (2006: R9.989m surplus) for 

the current year.  The defi cit was mainly due to the increased costs as indicated 

in the previous paragraph.  

The Commission obtained approval from National Treasury to retain their 

surplus funds of R 38,1 million for the current fi nancial year. Due to changes in 

the useful life of the assets, the accumulated surplus amounted to R38,4 million 

and application has been made to National Treasury for approval to retain the 

additional amount of R0, 3 million.

It is anticipated that the Commission will continue to receive suffi cient grant 

funding from the government to ensure sustainability of the organisation for the 

foreseeable future.

3. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The following staff members comprised the Executive Committee during the 

period under review:

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY 

   MEMBER TITLE REMUNERATION                   
2007                    
R’000

REMUNERATION                 
2006                 
R’000

Adv. M. Simelane Commissioner

(resigned – 31 May 2005)

             -                239

Mr. M. Ramburuth Commissioner 

(Acting June 2005.Appointed 26 July 2006)

            850                564

The amount of R 850 000 includes backpay of R 116 436 due to Mr M. 

Ramburuth in respect of the current fi nancial year. This amount was provided 

for in the annual fi nancial statements and will be paid out in the 2007/2008 

fi nancial year.

Accounting Authority’s Report (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007
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The acting allowance of R43 725 due to Mr T. Kunene is not included in the 

above remuneration as it was not provided for in the current year. This amount 

will be paid out in the next fi nancial year.

4.  CHANGES IN NATURE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

No major changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment or changes in 

the policy relating to the use of property, plant and equipment took place during 

the year under review. Changes regarding the estimated useful life of the asset 

have been taken into account in the calculation of the depreciation values of 

the asset.

5.  MATERIALITY FRAMEWORK

The Commission determined a planning materiality fi gure of R 411,660 

for the year under review.  The Commission’s business is such that it is not 

capital intensive and revenue was regarded as the best indicator of business 

activity and therefore 1% of budgeted fee income was used in determining the 

materiality fi gure.

Material facts and losses of a quantitative nature are disclosed when the 

materiality fi gure is exceeded, or if they arose through criminal conduct, 

irregular/fruitless and wasteful expenditure.  

Accounting Authority’s Report (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

   MEMBER TITLE    REMUNERATION

             2007

            R’000

   REMUNERATION

             2006

             R’000

Mr. J Dreyer Commission Secretary and Acting Manager Corporate Services from September 2006               614                525

Ms. M. Nkomo Manger : Corporate Services 

( Resigned – 31 August 2006)

              289                721

Ms. L. Blignaut Manager : Mergers & Acquisitions               720                638

Mr. G. Parr Manager : Policy & Research

(Resigned – 30 June 2006)

              158                655

Mr. T. Kunene Manager :Enforcement & Exemptions and Acting Deputy Commissioner from July 2006               701                367

Mr. M. Worsley Manager : Legal Services               682                624

Ms. Z. Ntuli Manage : Compliance 

(Resigned 13 January 2006)

                -                507

Ms. M. Ntlha Manager : Legal Services

( Resigned 30 June 2005)

                -                187

Mr. S. Roberts Manager : Policy & Research

(Appointed -1 November 2006)

              326                  -

Mr. T Bonakele Manager : Compliance 

(Acting from May 2006 to January 2007)

(Appointed – 1 February 2007

              635                   -
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Disposal of signifi cant assets when overall operational functions of the 

Commission changes, are disclosed.

6.  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO FINANCIAL POSITION 
DATE

There are no events subsequent to the fi nancial position date to be reported 

on.

7. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

The fruitless expenditure of R 7, 895 occurred due to replacement of lost copy 

monitors  The matter was investigated internally and it was concluded that no 

employee is liable, and as result no further action was taken.  This matter was 

reported to National Treasury as required by Section 51(2) of the Public Finance 

Management Act, 1999.

8.  IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

The irregular expenditure arose as a result of leases being entered into where 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership were transferred. 

This is synonymous with the defi nition of a fi nance lease as defi ned in South 

African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice IAS 17 – Leases 

and Treasury Regulation 32.2.2. In accordance with Treasury Regulation 

32.2.5(b) fi nance leases need to be entered into through the Minister of Finance. 

The intention of management was to acquire the use of an asset for an agreed 

period of time through the payment of a series of rentals, and not to contravene 

Treasury Regulations or the Public Finance Management Act. As a result no 

individual can be held liable for the incurrence of the irregular expenditure.  

The Commission entered into an agreement in May 2006 for fi nance leases for 

photocopiers in the amount of R701 000 for a period of 36 months. National 

Treasury Practice Note 5 of 2006/2007 issued in December 2006 indicates 

that approval is not required from the Minister of Finance for fi nance leases of 

less than 36 months for photocopiers. However, this according to the Auditor 

General is not retrospect from 1 April 2006. The Commission will therefore seek 

clarifi cation from National Treasury.

The effect of the irregular expenditure is refl ected in the notes to the fi nancial 

statements in respect of property, plant and equipment; fi nance leases; 

depreciation; fi nance charges; and accumulated surplus.

9. COMMISSION SECRETARY

The details of the Commission’s secretary are as follows:

Mr. P.J. Dreyer

Business address: The dti campus

    Building C: Mulayo

    77 Meintjies Street

    Sunnyside

    TSHWANE

Postal address: Private Bag X23

    Lynnwood Ridge

    0040

    TSHWANE

Telephone  +27-12-3943336

Fax    +27-12-3944336

Email address: JohanD@compcom.co.za

No changes occurred during the year under review.

Accounting Authority’s Report (continues)
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10. ADDRESS

The Commission’s registered offi ces are situated at: -

  

The dti campus    

  Building C: Mulayo   

  77 Meintjies Street

  Sunnyside

  TSHWANE

with the postal address

  Private Bag X23

  Lynwood Ridge

  0040

  TSHWANE

Web address: www.compcom.co.za

                 

Mr S Ramburuth

Accounting Authority

29 June 2007 

Accounting Authority’s Report (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007
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Statement of Financial Performance

as at 31 March 2007

 NOTES 2007  2006 

  R’000 R’000

Revenue    

    

Fee income 2  48,625  47,158 

Grants and transfers 3  19,144   21,008 

Other  income 4  284  736 

Profi t on disposal of assets   65   - 

   

Total Revenue   68,118   68,902 

Expenses   74,886   62,258  

   

Administrative expenses 5  2,561   1,999 

Employee cost 6  33,528   31,542 

Other operating expenditure 7  37,927   27,540 

Depreciation 8  805   1,109 

Finance charges 9  65   62 

Loss on disposal/scrapping of assets   -     6 

(Defi cit)/surplus from operations  (6,768)  6,644 

Interest received 10  3,401  3,345 

(Defi cit)/surplus for the year   (3,367)  9,989
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Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 March 2007

 NOTES 2007  2006 

  R’000 R’000

ASSETS    

Current Assets  45,740   50,962 

Trade and other receivables 12  1,405  1,011 

Cash and cash equivalents 13  44,335  49,951 

Non-Current Assets   

   2,255   1,570 

Property, plant and equipment 14  2,255   1,483 

Assets held for disposal 14  -     87 

Total Assets   47,995   52,532 

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities   9,323   10,773 

Trade and other payables 15  9,077   8,075 

Provisions 16  -     466 

Deferred income 17  19   2,095 

Short term portion of fi nance lease 18  227   137 

Non-current Liabilities    

Finance lease 18  280   - 

Total Liabilities   9,603   10,773 

    

Net Assets   38,392   41,759  

   

NET ASSETS  

 

Accumulated surpluses   38,392   41,759 

   

Total Net Assets   38,392   41,759 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets

for the year ended 31 March 2007

 NOTES 2007  2006 

  R’000 R’000

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS    

Balance at the beginning of the year   41,759   31,770 

(Defi cit)/surplus for the year   (3,367)  9,989  

   

Balance at the end of the year   38,392   41,759 

towards a fair and efficient economy for all



64

Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2007

 NOTES 2007  2006 

  R’000 R’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

   

Cash receipts from customers    67,659  68,564 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (75,556)  (67,186)

Cash (utilised)/generated from operations 19  (7,897)  1,378 

    

Interest received   3,401  3,345 

Finance charges   (65)  (62)

    

NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (4,561)  4,661 

    

   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Additions to property, plant and equipment   (1,547)  (324)

Proceeds on disposal of propery, plant and equipment   122   -   

    

 NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 20  (1,425)  (324)

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Finance lease obligations   701   -   

Finance lease repayments  (331)  (448)

    

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   370   (448)

   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (5,616)  3,889  

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   49,951  46,062  

   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 13  44,335  49,951 
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1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and include the following principal accounting policies  which, in all material respects, 

are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except as otherwise indicated:

1.1 Basis of preparation

The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any 

interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 

issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement as follows:

Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in material differences in items presented and 

disclosed in the fi nancial statements. The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted in the following changes in the presentation of the fi nancial statements:

1.  Terminology differences

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2007

towards a fair and efficient economy for all

2.  The cash fl ow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of fi nancial statements AC101: Presentation of fi nancial statements

GRAP 2: Cash fl ow statements AC118: Cash fl ow statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in estimates and errors AC103:  Accounting policies, changes in accounting accounting estimates and  

errors  

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP

Statement of fi nancial performance Income statement

Statement of fi nancial position Balance sheet

Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity

Net assets Equity

Surplus/defi cit  Profi t/loss

Accumulated surplus/defi cit Retained earnings

Contributions from owners Share capital

Distributions to owners Dividends
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3.  Specifi c information has been presented separately on the statement of 

fi nancial position such as:

(a)    Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and 

transfers;

(b)  Taxes and transfers payable;

(c)  Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions;

4.  Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

Paragraphs 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented due to the fact that 

the budget reporting standard has not been developed by the local standard 

setter and the international standard is not effective for this fi nancial year. 

Although the inclusion of budget information would enhance the usefulness 

of the fi nancial statements, non-disclosure will not affect the objective of the 

fi nancial statements.

1.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises of case notifi cation fees and facility charges received.  

Revenue from case notifi cation fees is recognised when the case is accepted 

by the Commission.  Facility fees are recognised on a monthly basis for services 

rendered by the Commission for infrastructure usage by the Competition 

Tribunal.  Other income is recognised, as and when received. 

1.3 Interest received

Interest received is recognised on a time-proportion basis by reference to the 

principal cash investment and the interest rate applicable. 

1.4 Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to 

match them with the related costs, which they are intended to compensate, on 

a systematic basis.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Assets purchased for less than R3, 000 are written off in the year of acquisition.  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 

depreciation.  Depreciation is calculated with the straight-line method on the 

cost less residual value, to write off assets over the estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives of assets are:

Leasehold improvements 4, 75 years

Furniture and fi ttings 10 years

Offi ce and Catering equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles   5 years

Computer equipment and software 3 years

Cell phones   3 years

Photocopiers   period of lease

The residual value and useful lives of property, plant and equipment is 

considered every year for any adjustments necessary.

1.6 Impairment of Assets

The Commission assesses the statement of fi nancial position on whether there 

is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  If there is any indication that 

an asset may be impaired, recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 

asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual 

asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of 

its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  If the recoverable amount 

of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation 

or amortisation is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.  Any impairment loss 

of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)
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An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable 

amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment 

loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the 

following order:

•   First, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating unit and 

•   Then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying 

amount of each asset in the unit. 

The Commission assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication 

that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets may no longer 

exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an 

impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

years.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profi t or loss. Any 

reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 

increase.

1.7 Leasing

Leases of assets are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of 

the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 

lessee.

Assets held under fi nance leases are recognised as assets at their fair value 

at the inception of the lease or, if lower at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 

statement of fi nancial position as a fi nance lease obligation.  Lease payments 

are apportioned between fi nance charges and reduction of the lease obligation 

so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability.  Finance charges are charged to profi t or loss.

Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

effectively retained by the lessor are classifi ed as operating leases.  Payments 

made under operating leases are charged to the statement of fi nancial 

performance on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignifi cant risk in 

change in value.  Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

1.9    Employee benefi ts

Contributions to the defi ned contribution pension plan are charged to the 

income statement in the year in which they relate.  The institution has no legal 

or constructive obligation to pay further contributions once the contributions 

have been paid.

1.10 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of fi nancial position include 

cash and bank balances, receivables and trade payables.  These fi nancial 

instruments are generally carried at their estimated fair value, which is the 

amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  

Recognition

Financial instruments are initially recognised using the trade date accounting 

method.

Measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction 

cost.  Subsequently to initial recognition these instruments are measured at fair 

value.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)
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Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of fi nancial instruments 

are recognised in net surplus or defi cit in the year in which they arise.

1.11 Comparative fi gures

Where necessary, comparative fi gures have been adjusted to conform to 

changes in presentation in the current year.

1.12  Provisions

Provisions are raised when a present legal or constructive obligation exists 

as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outfl ow of resources will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

competition commission   annual report 2006/07



69

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

  NOTES 2007  2006 

   R’000 R’000

2 Fee income   

 An analysis of the Commission’s fee income is as follows:   

 Rendering of services:   

 -  Filing fees   46,516   46,791 

 -  Facility fees   2,109   367 

    

 Total   48,625   47,158 

    

3 Grants and transfers   

 Government grant   19,144   21,008 

    

 Total   19,144   21,008 

    

4 Other income   

 Conferences, skills levy refund and other   284   736 

    

 Total   284   736 

    

5 Administrative expenses   

 General and administrative expenses   2,315   1,669 

 Auditors remuneration   246   330 

  -  External audit fees   246   330 

    

 Total   2,561   1,999 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

6  Employee costs Salary

R’000

Pension Contribution

R’000

Cellphone Allowance

R’000

Performance Bonus

R’000

Other

R’000

Total

R’000

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

         Accounting Author-

ity’s Emoluments

 

 Adv. M. Simelane

 Mr. M. Ramburuth

 

 Subtotal

 

   Executive 

        Committee 

 Emoluments

 

 Mr. J. Dreyer

 Ms. Z Ntuli

 Ms. M. Nkomo

 Ms. M. Ntlha

 Ms. L. Blignaut

 Mr. G. Parr

 Mr. T. Kunene

 Mr. M. Worsley

 Mr. T. Bonakele

 Mr. S. Roberts

 

 Subtotal

 

 Other Employees

 

 Temporary Staff

 

 Total Employee          

        Costs

- 

 736 

 736 

 461 

 - 

 277 

 - 

 529 

 147 

 534 

 536 

 489 

 245 

 3,218 

18,263 

 287 

22,504

106 

 520 

 626 

 425 

 394 

 599 

 122 

 521 

 536 

 302 

 500 

 - 

 - 

 3,399 

17,468 

 379 

21,872

- 

 33 

 33 

 27 

 - 

 8 

 - 

 36 

 8 

 33 

 40 

 29 

 18 

 199 

 1,267 

 - 

 1,499

6 

 30 

 36 

 25 

 23 

 30 

 9 

 33 

 33 

 18 

 37 

 - 

 - 

 208 

 1,274 

 - 

 1,518

- 

 15 

 15 

 9 

 - 

 4 

 - 

 12 

 3 

 12 

 12 

 8 

 5 

 65 

 - 

 - 

 80

4 

 14 

 18 

 9 

 9 

 12 

 3 

 12 

 12 

 7 

 11 

 - 

 - 

 75 

 - 

 - 

 93

- 

 - 

 - 

 76 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 88 

 - 

 96 

 76 

 79 

 39 

 454 

 2,170 

 - 

 2,624

- 

 - 

  -  

 66 

 58 

 80 

 - 

 72 

 74 

 40 

 76 

 - 

 - 

 466 

 2,199 

 - 

 2,665

- 

 66 

 66 

 41 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 55 

 - 

 26 

 18 

 30 

 19 

 189 

 6,566 

 - 

 6,821

123 

 - 

 123 

 - 

 23 

 - 

 53 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 76 

 

5,195 

 - 

 

5,394

- 

 850 

 850 

 614 

 - 

 289 

 - 

 720 

 158 

 701 

 682 

 635 

 326 

 4,125 

28,266 

 287 

 

33,528

239 

 564 

 803 

 525 

 507 

 721 

 187 

 638 

 655 

 367 

 624 

 - 

 - 

 4,224 

 

26,136 

 379 

31,542
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

  NOTES 2007  2006 
   R’000 R’000
7 Other operating expenses   
 Consultants, contractors and special services   7,624   1,738 
 Audit Committee fees   44   22 
 Fees paid to Tribunal   8,149   8,452 
 Legal fees   8,352   4,321 
 Maintenance, repairs and running costs   718   338 
 Education and awareness   1,681   2,443 
 Research projects    305   813 
 Operating leases   61   130 
 Property rental   7,632   5,793 
 Travel and accommodation   1,729   2,247 
 Other   1,632   1,243  
    
 Total   37,927   27,540  

8 Depreciation   
 -  Offi ce and catering equipment   16   31 
 -  Motor vehicles   25   17 
 -  Computer equipment and software   347   498 
 -  Furniture and fi ttings   125   236 
 -  Cellphones   -   1 
 -  Photocopiers   292   326  

 Total   805   1,109  
 
9 Finance charges   
 Photocopiers   65   62  

 Total   65   62  

10 Interest received   
 Interest received    
  -  Bank   3,401   3,345  
   
 Total   3,401   3,345  
    
11 Fruitless expenditure   
 Replacement of copy monitors   8   - 
 Fines and penalties to Workman’s Compensation   -   26  
    
 Total   8   26  

The fruitless expenditure occurred due to replacement of lost copy monitors.  The matter was investigated and concluded that no employee was  liable, which as 
a result, no further action was taken.  This matter was reported to Treasury as required by Section 51(2) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

  NOTES 2007  2006 

   R’000 R’000

12 Trade and other receivables   

    

 Trade debtors   255  77 

 Less provision for doubtful debts   (5) - 

 Receiver of Revenue   1,119  922 

 Sundry debtors   22   -   

 Other   14  12 

    

 Total   1,405   1,011 

    

13 Cash and cash equivalents   

    

 Cash at bank   2,733  5,109 

 Corporation of Public Deposits ( SARB)   41,600  44,841 

 Cash on hand   2  1 

    

 Total   44,335  49,951 
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for the year ended 31 March 2007

14  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2007  2006 
  R’000 R’000
 

  Furniture and fi ttings 
  Computer equipment 
  Offi ce and catering equipment 
  Motor vehicles 
  Cell phones 
  Leased assets - photocopiers 
  Assets held for disposal 
 
 

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows  
  
 2007 
 
  Furniture and fi ttings 
  Computer equipment 
  Offi ce and catering equipment 
  Motor vehicles 
  Cell phones 
  Leased assets - photocopiers 
  Assets held for disposal 
 

 2006 
 
  Furniture and fi ttings 
  Computer equipment 
  Offi ce and catering equipment 
  Motor vehicles 
  Cell phones 
  Leased assets - photocopiers 
  Assets held for disposal 
 

  Assets with a book value of R56 224 consisting of computer equipment, furniture and fi ttings, offi ce equipment and catering equipment held for disposal in 
the prior period were disposed of in the current year.  Assets with a book value of R30 417 held for disposal in the prior period not disposed of were added 
back to the assets. 

  Assets with zero values consisting of computer and offi ce equipment with a cost price of R 2 961 162 are still in use. The useful life and residual value of  
other assets still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year depreciation amounted to R 241 739. 

  The Commission is leasing equipment under a fi nance lease.  The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions.  The lease agreement can be ex-
tended at the end of the three year period for a further period.

 Cost Accumulated Net
  Depreciation Book Value
  
  2,173   (1,503)  670 
  4,011   (3,203)   808 
  1,135   (1,084)   51 
  326   (96)   230 
  2   (2)   - 
  701   (205)   496 
  -   -   - 
  
  8,348   (6,093)   2,255 

 Cost Accumulated Net
  Depreciation Book Value
  
   2,116  (1,361)   755 
  3,137  (2,549)   588 
  1,125  (1,085)   40 
  202   (189)   13 
  2   (2)   - 
  898   (811)   87 
  804   (717)   87 
  
  8,284   (6,714)   1,570 

Carrying value Additions Disposals Depreciation Held for Disposal in previ-
ous year - not disposed

Held for 
disposal

Carrying value 
at end of year

755 
 588 
 40 
 13 

 - 
 87 
 87 

 1,570

10 
 567 
 27 

 242 
 - 

 701 

 1,547

- 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 (57) 

 (57)

(125) 
 (347)
 (16) 
 (25)

 - 
 (292) 

 (805)

30 

 (30) 

 -  -

670 
 808 

 51 
 230 

 - 
 496 

 - 

 2,255

Carrying value 
at beg of year

Additions Disposals Depreciation Held for Disposal in previ-
ous year - not disposed

Held for 
disposal

Carrying value 
at end of year

 973 
 771 
 62 
 30 
 1 

 413 
 110 

 2,360 

 - 
 315 

 9 
 - 
 - 
 - 
-

 324 

 (5) 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
-

 (5)

 (236) 
 (498)
 (31) 
 (17)
 (1) 

 (326)
-

 (1,109) 

 110 
-
-
-
-
-

 (110) 

  -

(87) 
-
-
-
-
-

 87 

  -

 755 
 588 

 40 
 13 

 - 
 87 
 87 

 1,570 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

  NOTES 2007  2006 
   R’000 R’000
15 Trade and other payables    
   
 Trade payables and accruals   7,430  6,696 
 Bonuses due to employees   122  162 
 Leave due to employees   1,525  1,217  
   
 Total   9,077   8,075  

16 Provisions    

 Opening carrying amount   -     -   
 Additional provisions   -     466  

 Total   -     466 
    
  The provision for the previous year represents amounts due to Executive Committee members with regard to their performance  bonuses. These amounts 

were paid early in the new fi nancial year.    
   

17 Deferred income    

 Opening balance   2,095   -   
 New grants awarded   19   2,095 
 Upgrade of CMS program   19   -   
 Government grant - ICN conference   -     2,095 
 Deferred grants utilised    (2,095)  -    

 Closing balance   19   2,095  
    
  The amount of the grant deferred relates to an amount received from government for the upgrade of the CMS programme. The prior year amount related to 

the grant received  from government to host the Internatinal Competition Network conference in May 2006. The income and expenditure is disclosed in the 
current year fi nancials .   

    
18 Finance lease    

 Amounts payable under fi nance leases:    
 -  Minimum lease payment   579   141  
 -  Future fi nance charges  (72) (4) 
 Outstanding balance   507   137  
 Less: Current portion due within 12 months  (227) (137) 

    280   -  

 Obligations under fi nance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased asset.    
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

  NOTES 2007  2006 
   R’000 R’000
19 Cash (utilised)/generated from operations    
    
 (Defi cit)/surplus for the year   (3,367)  9,989 
 Adjusted for:   
 -  Depreciation on property, plant and equipment   805   1,109 
 -  Interest received   (3,401)  (3,345)
 -  Finance charges   65   62 
 -  (Profi t)/loss on disposal of assets   (65)  6 
 Operating cash fl ows before working capital changes   (5,963)  7,821 
 Working capital changes   (1,934)  (6,443)
 -  Increase in receivables   (394)  (337)
 -  Decrease in current liabilities   (1,540)  (6,106)
    
 Cash (utilised)/generated from operations   (7,897)  1,378  
    
20 Cash fl ows from investing activities   

 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (1,547)  (324)
 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   122   -  

    (1,425)  (324) 

21 Defi ned contribution plans    

  All employees are members of a defi ned contribution scheme administered by Sanlam Ltd.  The scheme is currently invested in investment policies under-
written by Metropolitan Life.  As an insured fund, the Competition Commission Pension Fund complies with regulation 28 of the Pension Funds Act of 1956. 
   

22 Changes in accounting estimates    

 The useful life and residual value of  assets still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year depreciation amounted to R 241 739.  
  
23 Contingent liabilities    
    
 Litigations and claims    

  The Commission has a possible liability towards two former employees resulting from legal action taken by these employees.  The Commission believes 
that based on current information, the legal proceedings are unlikely to result in a fi nancial loss to the Commission in one of the actions and in the other it is 
believed that the Commission’s liability would not exceed R40 000. No other contingencies at date of the fi nancial statements.  
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

24 Rental and operating lease commitments    
    
 Offi ce rental    
    
  There is no lease agreement with the DTI. However premises are rented from the DTI and rental payments are based on amounts determined by the DTI 

including annual CPIX changes.   
   
 Finance lease commitments    

 Photocopiers  2007  2006 
   R’000 R’000

 Up to 1 year   227   136  
 1 to 5 years   280   -  

 Total   507   136  

  The Commission is leasing equipment under a fi nance lease. The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions. The lease agreement can be extended 
at the end of the three year period for a further period.   

25 Financial instruments    

  Financial instruments are used to cover risks linked to the Commission’s activities. Each instrument is tied to an asset or liability.  Management of these 
instruments is centralised.    

  In the course of the Commission’s business operations it is exposed to interest rate and credit risk.  The Commission has developed a comprehensive risk 
management process to monitor and control these risks.  The risk management process relating to each of these risks is discussed under the headings below. 
   

 Interest rate risk    

  The Commission’s exposure to interest rate risk is managed by investing with the Corporation of Public Deposits to ensure maximum interest on surplus 
funds.    
   

 Credit risk    

  Financial assets, which potentially subject the Commission to concentrations of credit risk, consist mainly of cash and trade receivables.  The Commission’s 
cash and short term deposits are placed with high credit quality fi nancial institutions.  Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the nature 
of the Commission’s revenue transactions.  Accordingly the Commission has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk.   

 Liquidity Risk    

  The Competition Commission’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments.  The Competition Commission regard this risk 
to be low, taking into consideration the Competition Commission’s current funding structures and availibility of cash resources.   
   

 Fair Values    

  At 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006 the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and trade creditors approximated their fair 
values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.    

26 Income Tax exemption    

  The Commission is exempted from income tax in terms of Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continues)

for the year ended 31 March 2007

27 Irregular Expenditure    
    
  The irregular expenditure of R356 296 arose as a result of fi nance leases being entered into without the prior permission of National Treasury as per 

Treasury Regulations 32.2.5 (b). The effect of the irregualr expenditure is refl ected in the notes to the fi nancial statements in respect of property, plant and 
equipment; fi nance leases; depreciation; fi nance charges; and accumulated surplus.   

28 Related parties  2007  2006 
   R’000 R’000

 Related party  Relationship   
 The Competition Tribunal Public entity in National sphere  
 The Department of Trade and Industry National Department in National sphere  
 The Department of Justice National Department in National sphere  
 SA Revenue Service Public entity in National sphere  
 Compensation Fund Public entity in National sphere   

 Related party balances    

 Amounts included in Trade Payables regarding related parties   
 The Competition Tribunal   489   1,765 
 The Department of Trade and Industry   30   136 
 SA Revenue Services   1,440   1,271  

    1,959   3,172  
  
 Related party transactions    

 The Department of Trade and Industry   
 Government grant received   17,049   23,103 
 Rent paid    7,632   6,558 
 Telephone and Internet costs paid   921   498  

 The Competition Tribunal   
 Filing fees refunded   8,149   8,453 
 Facilitiy Fee income   2,109   1,132 
 Net employee costs recovered   98   114 
 Net administration costs recovered   45   1  
    
 Department of Justice   
 Counsel fees paid   502   -  

 SA Revenue Service   
 Payments in respect of PAYE, UIF and Skills development levy   6,938   6,164  

 Compensation Fund    
 Payment in respect of Workmen’s Compensation   161   167  
   
 Penalties collected on behalf of related parties and transferred to related parties   
 National Treasury   -   4,072 
 The Department of Trade and Industry   67,800   46,525  

    67,800   50,597 
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Predetermined objective Target Achievements

Ensure effi cient evaluation of 

exemption applications fi led 

under Section 10 

To be completed within 12 months of receipt

3 – 4 exemption applications expected

Law Society of South Africa fi led application for 

exemption 

Granted exemption to South African Airways/Star 

Alliance

Initiate more investigations into 

anticompetitive behaviour in 

priority industries

4 initiations 6 complaints initiated 

• 2 in the bread industry

• 1 in milled foodstuffs

• 1 in milk

• 1 in nuts and bolts

• 1 in scrap metal

Screen complaints effi ciently Within 15 days of receiving complaint All 93 complaints were screened within 7 days of 

receiving them 

Conduct enquiry into competition 

in retail banking

Final report due in June/July 2007 Final report due in November 2007

Encourage and facilitate 

voluntary assistance in cartel 

investigations

Increase prosecutions for cartel activity

3 – 4 applications for corporate leniency expected

The corporate leniency policy (CLP) was reviewed

3 CLP applications received:

• 1 in the airline industry

• 1 in the bread industry

• 1 in the milk industry 

Monitor and evaluate 

compliance with exemption 

conditions and undertakings

Thorough monitoring of compliance with conditional exemption 

approvals and undertakings

Evaluated compliance by SAA with exemption 

conditions granted for code share agreement with 

Qantas

Effective and effi cient case 

presentations (mergers) and 

prosecutions (complaints)

Properly presented case and properly substantiated arguments 

(using both local and international precedents where appropriate) in 

support of the Commission’s case

All investigations culminated in a fi nal report presented 

to and approved by the executive committee 
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Predetermined objective Target Achievements

Carry out effi cient merger 

investigations, with  

recommendations supported 

by thorough, well-researched 

fi ndings, good arguments and 

sophisticated analysis

Cases fi nalised on time and correct decisions and 

recommendations made:

•  Fast track cases fi nalised within 20 days (internal service 

standard commitment)

•  Phase 1 cases fi nalised within 20 days (internal standard) 

based on adequacy of information

• Phase 2 cases fi nalised within statutory deadlines

•  Phase 3 cases fi nalised within statutory time limits and stand 

the test of rigorous scrutiny by management and external 

parties (Tribunal, etc.)

•  9 cases qualifi ed for fast tracking and all fi nalised 

within 20 days at an average turnaround time of 

13.5 days

•  Out of 306 phase 1 cases, 207 were fi nalised 

within 20 days. Average turnaround time of all 306 

phase 1 cases was 21 days due to outstanding 

information and investigative period

•  Out of 68 phase 2 cases, 18 were fi nalised within 

25 days. The average turnaround time of all 68 

cases was 44 days

•  23 phase 3 cases were fi nalised at an average 

turnaround time of 64 days

•  1 case was approved in terms of section 14 (2) of 

the Act

Average turnaround time per type

Publish horizontal merger 

guidelines

Draft horizontal merger guidelines Draft available in May 2007

Legal Services division to 

carry out effi cient and effective 

investigations into complaints, 

exemption applications and 

mergers 

Timeous contributions (written and oral) to the investigations 

which evidence a clear understanding of the issues and the use of 

appropriate precedents

Legal Services division participated as team 

members in 44 merger investigations, 26 complaint 

investigations and 6 exemption applications

Deal with legal challenges in the 

High Court, Competition Appeal 

Court and Supreme Court of 

Appeal to establish precedent 

and create legal certainty 

regarding the interpretation of 

the Act 

Well-presented and researched arguments before the High Court, 

Competition Appeal Court and Supreme Court of Appeal supported 

by relevant authority

6 reviews/appeals in the Competition Appeal Court (3 

were fi nalised and 3 are still ongoing)

2 reviews in the High Court (still ongoing)

Encourage and facilitate 

voluntary compliance with the 

Act

Ad hoc information contacts relating to SME/HDI issues

3 regions

3 information contacts 

Provide clarifi cation on the 

interpretation and application of 

the Act and the Rules

10 written clarifi cations to SMEs and black businesses

20 written clarifi cations to big business and practitioners 

16 written clarifi cations issued to SMEs and black 

businesses

68 written clarifi cations issued to big business

80

Type Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

Small 3/31days - 1/60days

Intermediate 248/19days 44/38days 14/49days

Large 55/29days 24/53days 8/90days
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Predetermined objective Target Achievements

Provide advisory opinions 50 advisory opinions 46 advisory opinion requests received and issued

Monitor non-notifi ed mergers 15 non-notifi ed mergers expected 13 non-notifi ed matters were followed up

Reduce number of non-

competition concerns fi led by 

SMEs, black businesses and 

consumers

1 policy document on approach to SME/HDI issues Carried over to the next fi nancial year as part of 

revised three-year strategic plan

Increase trade union 

participation in merger 

proceedings

3 training sessions on how to fi le quality submissions (10 to 15 

participants per session)

Number depends on mergers fi led

2 training workshops conducted for trade union 

members  

609 trade unions participated in 225 merger cases

Manage the relationship 

between the Commission and 

sector regulators

Priority sectors 

Government departments - transport and Transnet

1 agreement

Information contacts with Icasa, National Liquor 

Authority and South African Dental Technicians 

Council

2 draft memoranda of understanding with Icasa and 

National Liquor Authority

Conduct research on various 

aspects of competition 

regulation

4 notices

3 articles

Increased clarity on Commission’s approach

Reduced number of opinions in these areas

3 draft notices/articles

Strategic plan adopted to increase clarity on 

Commission’s approach

Infl uence policy and legislative 

processes

Industry papers

Comment papers

Submission on draft bills  

Work on improving relationship with parastatals to improve their 

perception of the Commission and help them comply 

2 industry papers

1 policy paper

7 comment papers

1 submission on draft bill

2 meetings with government departments

2 meetings with sector regulators

1 meeting with municipality

Conduct research on various 

aspects of competition 

regulation

2 guidelines on fi nancial services matters and shopping complex 

leases

3 articles

2 competition regulation research reports 

1 guideline 

4 articles

Conduct economic research into 

key state owned industries

Paper on telecom sector

Paper on energy sector

Paper on aviation sector

1 paper on energy sector 

2 papers on water regulation 

Participate in the legislative 

process regarding amendments 

to the Competition Act

Properly considered and timeous contributions to the DTI review 

process

Ongoing meetings with DTI and Competition Tribunal 
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Predetermined objective Target Achievements

Conduct economic research 

into specifi c sectors and 

topics related to industrial 

organisations 

Agricultural sector

Sectoral reports on ad hoc basis by service provider

10 economic research reports 

Explain economic principles on 

key issues to non-economists at 

the Commission

Policy and economic briefs

Basic economics training

6 briefs circulated

Training not conducted due to capacity constraints

Economic monitoring Database maintained Database maintained

Explain economic process of 

complaint investigations and 

exemption evaluation to wider 

group of stakeholders

4 seminars 4 seminars conducted

Presented at 4 seminars

Create awareness and provide 

information

2 campaigns / 3 exhibitions

Target investors, consumers and SMEs

1 trade union workshop

1 consultative workshop

2 exhibitions reached 1015 visitors

9 presentations to 778 delegates on SME and consumer 

issues

6 meetings with 95 SMEs

1 trade union consultative forum

3 estate agents consultative forums 

Manage and coordinate 

specifi ed elements of 

communication 

18 staff to be trained

2,500 annual reports 

2,500 newsletters (quarterly)

Other publications on ad hoc basis

No training done due to staff turnover

1,800 annual reports distributed

3 x 2,500 newsletters printed and distributed

5,000 pocket Act booklets

1,000 pocket guides

2,000 SME guides

3,000 trade union guides

2,000 franchise notices

Manage and coordinate external 

relationships with media, 

parliament and the general 

public

4 advertorials

2 media briefs

2 features per division

3 advertorials

1 media brief

12 media statements

1 press conference

6 TV interviews

6 radio interviews

3 meetings with parliamentary portfolio committees
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Predetermined objective Target Achievements

Develop and review 

communication strategy

Communicate strategically in a manner that is consistent and 

focused

Held over to next fi nancial year due to capacity 

constraints

Manage internal communication 

activities

35 newsfl ashes

4 staff meetings

6 happy hours

1 award ceremony

1 year end function

27 newsfl ashes

4 staff meetings  

6 happy hours

1 award ceremony 

1 year end function

Manage the relationship 

between the Commission and 

sector regulators

4 quarterly meetings with South African Regulators Forum (SARF)

4 articles in SARF publication

SARF secretariat moved from Commission to National 

Gambling Board

No meetings or articles 

Effective fi nancial management 

and cost effi ciencies

Improved budgeting mechanisms, in line with PFMA

Monthly projections to be made against actual expenditure

Effective cash fl ow management mechanisms to ensure access to 

funds from a diversifi ed portfolio

Monthly projections received from managers

Budget deviation did not exceed quarterly targets

Net bank balances not in overdraft

Regular and accurate fi nancial reports available by the 

5th of each month   

Effective procurement system Compliance with the supply chain framework

Disposal of old assets

Complied with supply chain framework. Effective and 

unbiased rotation system. Used supplier database 

system

No disposal necessary

Maintain integrated and effective 

IT systems

Research and develop systems. Inform management about 

new systems and latest available technology to use the latest 

technology cost effectively

Functional enhancements on case management system (CMS)

Upgrade SharePoint Server (SPS) for document management and 

fi le sharing 

Improved remote data access

Server upgraded

Functional specifi cations drafted for upgrade of CMS/

SPS

SPS functionalities upgraded 

New wireless data access and virtual private network 

(VPN) connectivity enabled

Manage records effi ciently Accurately record, scan, index and fi le all non-case documents

Safe and accessible offsite records

645 new cases registered, scanned, fi led and 

archived. Non-case documents controlled and stored 

offsite

Offsite records accessible within 24 hours
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Predetermined objective Target Achievements

Manage public access to 

Commission’s records 

Control and monitor public access to Commission’s records 27 cases requested and made available

Turnaround time 6 days

Access denied in 6 instances due to confi dentiality

Review and implement record 

management policies

Revise and update the manual required by the Promotion of Access 

to Information Act, 2000

Review is ongoing

Compliance with relevant 

legislation

Policy development, revision and implementation Ongoing compliance with 10 relevant laws and other 

statutory requirements 

Recruit and retain staff 

effectively 

Attract and retain high caliber staff Recruitment turnaround times lower than previous 

fi nancial year

Pay benchmarking exercise completed 

Effective training and 

development and maintain 

a knowledge based learning 

organisation

Coordinate training and development activities and ensure 

equitable access to training

Workplace skills plan submitted 

88 employees attended a total of 89 training 

interventions

Bursaries awarded to 19 staff members

Manage employee performance Manage well and poor performing staff 71 staff members reviewed under performance 

management system 

Coordinate effective graduate 

trainee programme

Highly skilled and employable trainees 20 graduate trainees employed as Commission staff

Foster good employee relations 

and wellbeing

Harmonious employee/management relations Independent counselling and advisory service which 

provides well-being programme to employees 

Staff participated in programmes aimed at reducing 

risk of HIV and AIDS, and TB 

Provide effective security and 

effi cient facility management

Improve, implement and review security policies and procedures 

based on best practice, in line with DTI campus policies, and 

benchmark against new trends

DTI campus security policies implemented

Implement and coordinate 

contingency disaster plan

Implement disaster plan, and introduce drills and fi re assessment in 

line with legislation and the DTI emergency response plan

Fire assessment done 

Contingency disaster plan developed and 

implemented

Comply with and implement 

occupational health and safety 

legislation

Comply with occupational health and safety legislation Compliance with legislation observed 

No casualties experienced

Well maintained facilities Monitor facility related services 7 new offi ces and 4 touchdown workstations added to 

facility’s space
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